
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Resources Department 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 

 
 

AGENDA FOR THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Housing Scrutiny Committee are summoned to Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on 30 January 2018 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 
Lesley Seary  
Chief Executive  
 
 

Enquiries to : Jonathan Moore 

Tel : 020 7527 3308 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 22 January 2018 

 
 
Membership  Substitute Members 
 
Councillor Michael O'Sullivan (Chair) 
Councillor Marian Spall (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Alex Diner 
Councillor Gary Doolan 
Councillor Aysegul Erdogan 
Councillor Troy Gallagher 
Councillor Osh Gantly 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE 
 
Rose Marie McDonald (Resident Observer) 
Dean Donaghey (Resident Observer) 
 

Councillor Satnam Gill OBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Una O'Halloran 
Councillor Olly Parker 
Councillor Angela Picknell 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
 

 
Quorum: is 4 Councillors 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Interests 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 

If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and 
the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e)  Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

1 - 8 

5.  Chair's Report 
 

 

6.  Order of Business 
 

 

7.  Public Questions 
 

 

 For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the 
meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may opt to 
accept questions from the public during the discussion on each agenda item. 

 



 
 
 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

1.  Housing Association Scrutiny - The Guinness Partnership 
 

9 - 10 

2.  The Council's New Build Programme Mini-Review: Witness Evidence and 
Conclusions 
 

11 - 28 

  Presentation on Camden’s New Build Programme – Steve Beard, LB Camden  

 Briefing note on information requested at the previous meeting  

 The Committee is invited to consider its conclusions on the council’s new build 
programme.  
 

 

3.  Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Draft Recommendations 
 

29 - 32 

4.  Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Final Report 
 

33 - 64 

5.  Work Programme 
 

65 - 66 

C.  
 

Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any non- exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgent by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

D.  
 

Exclusion of press and public 
 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the agenda, 
any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and public during 
discussion thereof. 
 

 

E.  
 

Confidential/exempt items 
 

 

F.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
A special meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee has been arranged for 6 February 2018 to 

consider the performance of Partners for Improvement in Islington.  
 

The next regular meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee will be on 13 March 2018.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on  11 December 2017 at 7.30 pm. 

 
 

Present: Councillors: 
 
 
Resident Observers: 
 
Also present:  

O'Sullivan (Chair), Diner, Gallagher, Gantly, and 
Hamitouche.  
 
Dean Donaghey and Rose Marie McDonald 
 
Cllrs Russell and D Ward.  

 
 

Councillor Michael O'Sullivan in the Chair 
 

 

322 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A1) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Spall and Doolan. Apologies for 
lateness were received from Councillor Gantly.  
 
 

323 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A2) 
 
None.  
 
 

324 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (Item A3) 
 
None.  
 
 

325 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A4) 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 16 November 2017 be confirmed 
as a correct record and the Chair be authorised to sign them.  
 
 

326 CHAIR'S REPORT (Item A5) 
 
The Chair commented that, although the Committee’s review of Fire Safety was concluding, 
the Committee would continue to consider fire safety matters and relevant issues arising 
from the Grenfell Tower inquiries as they arose.  
 
The Chair confirmed the Committee’s intention to continue to review the work of Housing 
Associations operating in the borough. It was noted that housing association mergers, such 
as the proposed merger between Genesis Housing and Notting Hill Housing, may have an 
impact on the services received by housing association tenants. The Chair also commented 
on the importance of maximising the amount of genuinely affordable social housing in new 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

2 
 

developments, and ensuring that those properties were designed and built to high 
standards.  
 
 

327 ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item A6) 
 
No changes were proposed to the order of business.  
 
 

328 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item A7) 
 
None.  
 
 

329 FIRE SAFETY SCRUTINY REVIEW: DRAFT RECOMMENDATIONS (Item B1) 
 
The Chair introduced the draft recommendations of the Fire Safety scrutiny review. The 
Chair circulated a sprinkler head unit to those in attendance and emphasised the benefits of 
sprinkler systems.  
 
It was agreed to amend recommendation 2, to encompass the ‘Following Grenfell’ review 
commenced by the Equality and Human Rights Commission.  
 
The Committee agreed an additional recommendation that the Director of Housing Needs 
and Strategy, following her return from secondment to the Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea, should author a report to the Committee on her experiences and any learning 
points from her work for the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and the Grenfell 
Tower Response Team.  
 
Councillor Russell noted that the London Fire Brigade was recommending that landlords 
should retrofit sprinklers in all high rise housing blocks over 18 metres in height, and 
queried the Committee’s definition of ‘high rise housing blocks’ in recommendation 10. In 
response, it was advised that recommendation 10 related to housing blocks over six storeys 
in height, which was approximately 18 metres. It was commented that this would be 
explained in the scrutiny report.  
 
Councillor Russell noted recommendation 14 related to new build projects, and queried if 
the council’s design and build standards were sufficient. In response, it was advised that the 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety was expected to make 
recommendations on building standards, and the Committee was to carry out a separate 
review of the council’s new build programme.  
 
Councillor Russell commented that recommendation 3, which supported the London Fire 
Brigade’s ‘Stay Put’ policy, was only effective if compartmentation was successful. It was 
queried if the council was actively checking the compartmentation of its housing stock. In 
response, the Executive Member for Housing and Development advised that 
compartmentation checks were underway and any faults identified would be duly rectified.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the draft recommendations be approved, subject to the following amendments:  
(i) That recommendation 2 be amended to read: ‘Following the conclusions of the 

Grenfell Tower inquiry, the review of the Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
and the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, a report 

Page 2



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

3 
 

should be submitted to the Housing Scrutiny Committee detailing what actions the 
council will be taking in response to the recommendations.’ 

(ii) An additional recommendation to read: ‘The Director of Housing Needs and Strategy 
should author a report to the Housing Scrutiny Committee detailing her experiences 
and any learning points from her secondments to the Grenfell Response Team and 
the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.’ 

 
 

330 THE COUNCIL'S NEW BUILD PROGRAMME MINI-REVIEW: SID AND WITNESS 
EVIDENCE (Item 2) 
 

(i) Draft Scrutiny Initiation Document (SID)  
 
The Committee considered the draft SID set out in the agenda pack.  
 
It was requested that the eighth objective of the review be amended to compare the 
council’s approach to housing associations, as well as other local authorities.   
 
It was requested that the scope of the review be amended to include: 

 Design standards in regards to entrance and exit routes in both high rise and low 
rise properties  

 Environmental standards in regards to the toxicity of paint 

 The checks and balances related to decision-making on design and build choices, 
including decisions on the use of materials such as cladding 

 The average building costs of new housing schemes 

 How housing revenue account surplus is spent, and if any funds are allocated to 
new build projects.  

 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the scrutiny initiation document be agreed, subject to the following amendments:  
(a) the eighth objective be amended to read ‘The compare the council’s approach to new 

build to another London borough and housing associations’.  
(b) the following points be added to the scope of the review:  

 Design standards in regards to entrance and exit routes in both high rise and low 
rise properties  

 Environmental standards in regards to the toxicity of paint 

 The checks and balances related to decision-making on design and build choices, 
including decisions on the use of materials such as cladding 

 The average building costs of new housing schemes 

 How housing revenue account surplus is spent, and if any funds are allocated to 
new build projects.  

 
(ii) Witness Evidence 

 
Stephen Nash, New Homes and Development Programme Manager, presented to the 
Committee on the council’s new build programme.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 There were two New Homes and Development Programme Managers. These were 
not technical building management roles, but the officers were responsible for the 
overall development of the council’s new build schemes.  

Page 3



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

4 
 

 The objective of the New Build service was to maximise the amount of social rented 
housing in the borough. The council’s new build schemes also contained private 
housing, the sale of which helped to fund the development of social rented housing.   

 The council’s new build programme did not create any ‘profit’. Occasionally a new 
build scheme would achieve a surplus if rising property values resulted in private 
units achieving a higher than expected sale price. Any surplus was reinvested in 
developing new social rented housing. 

 The type of units developed by the council was informed by the needs of residents 
on the housing waiting list. As a result, the council was developing a high proportion 
of two-bed, four-person units as a means of reducing overcrowding. The council was 
also developing a number of three and four bed units.  

 The new build team was also developing a small amount of supported housing for 
vulnerable people, as well as community infrastructure such as community centres. 
The team was involved in the development of the new Cat and Mouse Library.  

 There were five project managers working underneath the programme managers. 
These officers were responsible for identifying sites, carrying out consultation and 
engagement, and seeing through individual projects from commencement to the 
defect stage. These officers worked closely with colleagues in Legal, Planning, and 
Housing Needs. 

 The New Build team considered various factors when identifying sites for 
development, including if the site currently attracted anti-social behaviour. 
Developing new housing at a site known for anti-social behaviour often achieved 
positive results for local residents. Officers regularly reviewed available sites and 
suggestions were also received from officers in other departments, as well as 
councillors.   

 The New Build team had considered innovative approaches to maximising the 
amount of social rented housing. This included build-overs of existing blocks. The 
team also considered the purchase of sites on the open market, however this was 
challenging as the council could be outbid by private developers. It was commented 
that some private developers were prepared to pay over market value for sites, with 
the intention of maximising their profit by reducing the affordable housing offer.  

 The New Build team had made approaches to develop land held by other public 
bodies, such as the Police, Fire Brigade, and GLA. In response to a question, it was 
advised that an unsuccessful bid had been made for a Ministry of Defence site, and 
approaches had previously been made to the NHS.  

 The council had a framework contract with local architects, including the council’s 
own in-house architects, to design new build schemes.  

 All of the council’s new build schemes required planning permission. It was 
commented that achieving planning permission could be a challenging process and 
the council’s applications were not treated differently to any other developer. The 
design of all new build schemes was scrutinised by the council’s Design Review 
Panel. 

 The New Build team was keen to involve residents in the design process and carried 
out consultations as schemes were developed.  

 The build process was carried out by contractors appointed on a 60% quality, 40% 
cost basis. Officers emphasised that there was no benefit to building poor quality 
social rented housing.  

 The New Build team made use of a robust set of Employers Requirements. This 
ensured that properties met, and often exceeded, the standards set out in the 
London Design Guide.  

 The New Build team had its own clerk of works and all works were signed off by 
Islington Council Building Control. It was commented that Building Control would 
comment on fire safety matters as they arose.  

Page 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

5 
 

 The majority of the council’s new build schemes were low rise properties, however 
one building over eight storeys was in development. Some new build schemes 
redeveloped existing buildings, such as garages.  

 The Committee considered the resident consultation carried out by the New Build 
team. The level of consultation was dependent on the type of development. Major 
developments required a significant amount of public consultation, whereas more 
limited consultation was carried out for small two or three unit schemes. 

 Consultation methods included door knocking, drop-in sessions and exhibitions. It 
was commented that one to one engagement tended to result in more measured 
and useful comments. Public meetings were occasionally held, however these could 
be fractious.  

 Consultation was carried out with TRAs, however it was noted that these groups 
may not represent all residents.  

 It was intended to carry out more consultation with young people.  

 Officers acknowledged that further improvements could be made to the public 
engagement process. It was felt that some engagement had been rushed in the 
past, however the service now took more time to work through local concerns. It was 
accepted that there would always be a level of opposition to new development, 
however the need to take into account significant local opposition was understood. 

 Consultation was carried out with specific groups when appropriate. For example, 
the Housing Disability Panel would be consulted when new developments include 
adapted properties.  

 The council’s requirement was that 10% of units should be wheelchair accessible. If 
a new build property was let to a tenant with specific accessibility needs, the New 
Build team engaged with the tenant as soon as possible to ensure that the property 
met the tenant’s requirements.  

 In response to a question, it was advised that residents were able to influence the 
design of new build properties, however there may be planning or architectural 
constraints that prohibit resident suggestions being accepted.  

 The New Build team often carried out environmental improvements alongside the 
development of new properties. Officers advised that the general consensus was 
that new build developments improved estates.  

 New build properties were let in line with the council’s local lettings policy. Additional 
priority was given to those on the estates where the new units were being 
developed, those on the transfer list, and also on a local ward basis.  

 Although private units were sold on the open market, priority was given to those who 
live or work in Islington. The council did not sell new build units to foreign investors, 
and did not want to sell to buy-to-let landlords.  

 Officers commented on the challenges of achieving the corporate objective of 
delivering 500 new council homes between 2014/15 and 2019/20. There had been 
delays to the completion of new build schemes, which included delays to Network 
Rail completing works affecting development sites, delays to utility companies 
connecting new build properties to their networks, the discovery of asbestos and 
bones requiring investigation and removal, and delays associated with pressures in 
the Planning and Legal departments.   

 Officers commented that, although Islington was a small borough, it was not as 
dense as some other London boroughs and there were opportunities for 
development.  

 Officers noted the financial challenges facing the new build programme. The 
government’s 1% cut in social rents had an adverse impact on the new build 
programme. The development of some schemes had been paused and others had 
stopped altogether.   

 There was a level of uncertainty in the new build sector associated with Brexit, the 
implications of the Housing and Planning Act, and other political factors.  

Page 5



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

6 
 

 Following the government’s recent budget announcement that the HRA borrowing 
cap could be lifted for local authorities in high need, the council had already applied 
to the Treasury requesting that its borrowing cap be lifted. It was commented that 
borrowing limits had constrained the new build programme in the past. It was known 
that other local authorities had also applied to the Treasury and it was not known 
when a response would be received. 

 Although the government had previously pledged that Right to Buy properties would 
be replaced on a ‘one for one’ basis, it was noted that for each unit lost the council 
only received approximately 30% of the construction cost of a single unit.  

 The Chair commented on the difficulties of the London housing market, noting that 
an economist had recently described it as a ‘collusive oligopoly’.  

 The Committee requested further information on how decisions on new build 
properties are made and scrutinised. 

 The Committee requested a breakdown of costs for an average new build property. 

 Following a question, it was advised that the council did not routinely fit sprinkler 
systems in new build properties.  

 The New Build team was actively looking at building modular housing. Other London 
boroughs, including Enfield, had developed such housing. It was commented that 
developing modular housing was attractive as it could be completed within three 
months.  

 Solar panels were fitted to new build properties where appropriate. The new build 
service was acutely aware of fuel poverty and ensured new build properties were 
well insulated. 

 In response to a question about the council developing mixed tenure housing blocks, 
it was advised that the council did not fit ‘poor doors’, however did develop separate 
private and social housing blocks. It was explained that private housing was built to 
a higher specification as the intention was to maximise the sale value to ensure a 
greater subsidy for social rented housing. Officers commented that it was more 
difficult to develop and manage mixed blocks of private and social housing.  

 Following a question from a member of the public, it was advised that the council 
could not extinguish the Right to Buy for tenants in new build properties.  

 The council had explored developing more shared ownership housing, however as 
London property prices were so high, there were concerns that shared ownership 
housing was not affordable to the majority of residents.  

 
The Committee thanked Stephen Nash for his attendance.  
  
 
 

331 RESPONSIVE REPAIRS SCRUTINY 2015/16 - 12 MONTH REPORT BACK (Item B3) 
 
Matt West, Head of Repairs and Maintenance, introduced the report which provided an 
update on the Committee’s review of responsive repairs.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 The Committee welcomed progress on the multi-skilling of operatives. It was 
reported that agreements had been made with trade unions and some staff were 
very keen to broaden their skills. It was also noted that the multi-skill training was 
being rolled out to other services. 

 The new repairs ICT system had been launched with minimal disruption to the 
service.  

Page 6



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

7 
 

 Changes to the service’s working culture were progressing well. Operatives were 
being empowered to make decisions to achieve a first time fix, rather than leave a 
repair incomplete and requiring follow-up works.  

 It was noted that opportunities for joint working with the London Borough of Camden 
were limited, however officers were continuing to review if joint purchasing would 
achieve financial savings.  

 Officers were continuing to network with housing colleagues across London to share 
best practice. It was commented that other London local authorities were keen to 
learn from Islington’s experience of in-sourcing the repairs service. 

 It was commented that residents and private sector organisations may be interested 
in accessing the council’s multi-skill training, and it was suggested that this could be 
offered as an income generation opportunity. In response, it was advised that the 
council was limited by the small size of its training facility, however this would be 
explored.  

 It was suggested that the Repairs service could generate income by offering 
services to leaseholders and private tenants. Although this was a long-term ambition 
of the service, it was commented that further work was required before the service 
traded commercially. It was not feasible to offer a commercial service if it would 
have a detrimental impact on the core service provided to council tenants. Any 
commercial service would need ICT development, a pilot, and market testing before 
being rolled out.  

 Following a question from Dr Brian Potter of the Islington Leaseholders Association, 
it was advised that the repairs service used the National Housing Federation 
Schedule of Rates for most works. It was advised that the schedule was not publicly 
available, however a licence could be purchased from M3 Housing Ltd.  

 
The Committee thanked Matt West for his attendance.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the progress made against the recommendations be noted.  
 
 

332 QUARTERLY REVIEW OF HOUSING PERFORMANCE (Q2 2017/18) (Item B4) 
 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward, Executive Member for Housing and Development, introduced the 
quarterly performance report.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion: 
 

 The number of affordable new council and housing association homes built was 
below target, however it was expected that delays to completing new build schemes 
would be overcome shortly.  

 The number of under-occupied households downsizing was below target. It was 
thought that the government’s proposed changes to fixed term tenancies had 
discouraged tenants from downsizing. It was emphasised that the council’s policy 
was that tenants should not be penalised for downsizing.  

 Whilst Partners’ day to day repairs satisfaction was on target, members of the 
Committee expressed their scepticism about Partners’ performance on more 
complex repairs. The Committee also commented on Partners’ resident scrutiny 
arrangements and rent arrears. It was intended to scrutinise Partners’ performance 
at a forthcoming meeting.  

 The Committee requested a copy of Partners’ asset management plan.  

Page 7



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  11 December 2017 
 

8 
 

 The Committee welcomed that the council was achieving its objective to reduce 
homelessness. The borough’s homeless acceptance rate was at its lowest since 
September 1998. Further work was underway to address the causes of 
homelessness, which included domestic violence, and the ending of private sector 
tenancies.  

 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the progress to the end of quarter 2 against key performance indicators be noted.  
 
 

333 REVIEW OF WORK PLAN (Item B5) 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 9.35 pm 
 
 
 
CHAIR 
 

Page 8



 

HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 30 JANUARY 2018 

HOUSING ASSOCIATION SCRUTINY – THE GUINNESS PARTNERSHIP  

 

The Housing Scrutiny Committee has a rolling programme of inviting housing associations  

with a significant presence as landlords in the borough to present to the Committee on their 

overall performance.   

Set out below is a list of areas of enquiry, which is sent to attendees in advance to assist in 

tailoring their presentaiton to the particular interests of the Committee.   

 

Overarching: 

• What’s going well for your work in Islington? 
 

• What are your areas of concern? How can you work more closely with Islington Council 
on those? 

 
 

Specific: 

• Resident satisfaction – Tell us about your resident satisfaction figures; have they changed 
over recent times, and how does that compare with similar HAs? How do you measure 
resident satisfaction, and how is the data collected?  

 
• Performance – Tell us about your performance in repairs; rent collection; voids and relets; 

gas safety; and managing antisocial behaviour. How does it compare with other HAs? Are 
there areas you need to improve? 

 
• Voids and relets – Islington has seen a drop in Housing Association available lets coming 

through our nominations process compared to the Council’s own. What are your thoughts on 
this and how could we work with you to increase available properties again? 

 
• Rents – What is your approach to affordable rents? – i.e. up to 80% of market rent? Islington 

Council policy is to let all properties at target rent, and we are keen to encourage partners to 
do the same in our borough.  
 

• Finances and wages – What annual surplus did your organisation generate in the last 
financial year? How does this compare to the sector average? Do you have policies on the 
London Living Wage and the ratio between the highest and lowest paid staff? 

 
• Maintaining assets and developing homes – How do you invest in your stock in our 

borough? Have you sold any properties in Islington, and if so where did that investment go? 
What are your priorities for investment? Are you planning to build or acquire any new homes 
at target rent in the borough? 

 
• Welfare Reform changes – What impact has welfare reform had on your organisation? 

What are you doing to support tenants affected by welfare reform and how can the Council 
work more closely with you to support tenants? Since the introduction of Welfare Reform 
have you had an increase in rent arrears, and has this led to an increase in evictions?  

 
• Vulnerable People – Do you provide sheltered housing for vulnerable people? Do your 

vulnerable tenants receive any enhanced services?  Do you have agreed protocols for 
engaging with vulnerable tenants? Do you work with local authorities to ensure your 
vulnerable tenants are receiving comprehensive support? 
 Page 9

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



January 2018

Camden Community Investment 
Programme

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 2



The Community Investment Programme

Mixed and integrated communities are part 
of Camden’s sense of place, and good 
homes where people can afford to live are 
foundational to this. 

The Community Investment Programme 
(CIP) is Camden’s pioneering and ambitious 
approach to delivering a range of community 
infrastructure including affordable housing, 
schools, community facilities and improved 
social housing. 

CIP is one of the biggest Council building 
programmes in the country, delivering 869
new homes in the last five years. 

Maiden Lane, York Way

P
age 12



The CIP Model 
To date Camden’s Cabinet has approved 
schemes over £1bn of investment across 
the housing revenue account (HRA) and 
general fund

Without a land cost and developer margin, 
the profits generated from market sale units 
are used to cross-subsidise high levels of 
affordable housing and community facilities. 
This brings forward sites that would not be 
viable for a private developer

The Council has taken a decision to directly 
deliver housing schemes accepting the risk 
involved on the basis that the local authority 
is best placed to deliver community-led 
regeneration and risk could be managed 
across a programme of sites
Approved programme stands at 
approximately 2,000 new homes

Bacton, Gospel Oak

P
age 13



Our Achievements To Date
The CIP is an innovative and varied 
programme seeking to address inequality in 
all its forms:
• New Council homes 
• New urban spaces that design out crime 

and anti-social behaviour
• Camden Living rent homes for key 

workers and people on middle incomes
• New high quality residential care and 

extra care homes for older people to 
support their independence and dignity

• New studio accommodation and skills 
and learning centres for people 
experiencing homelessness

• Improved educational environments for 
our young people

Some of our schemes 

Gospel Oak – 35 extra care homes at an affordable 
social rent 

Netley – 80 new homes, 70 of which were sold to the 
Department of Transport as HS2 replacement homes, 
alongside new school buildings

Plender Street – 31 new private sale homes, new 
community centre and commercial units

Bacton Phase 1 – 67 new homes (46 affordable) and 
refurbished community hall

Maiden Lane – 273 new homes (126 affordable) and 
new commercial units

Liddell Road – new infant school creating 420 new 
school places

P
age 14



Case Study – Agar Grove

• Almost total redevelopment of an estate 
to double the density which has 
progressed with the support of residents 
– a development only the Council could 
bring forward

• Scheme includes the demolition of 112 
low rise dwellings and remodelling of an 
18 storey tower block. 

• 493 new homes will be built to higher 
standards of design, space and 
sustainability.

• It is the largest project to break ground 
and will be the largest Passivhaus
scheme in the country. 

• It has been showcased by the DCLG as 
a model for estate regeneration 

Agar Grove

P
age 15



Community Engagement Approach 
• Our schemes are co-designed with the 

community to deliver the facilities that 
our residents want and need

• Residents are involved from the outset in 
helping select architects and provide 
feedback on the density and design of 
schemes, through to co-developing 
decant strategies 

• Across our major schemes we employ 
residents on the estates to act as peer-
to-peer liaisons for projects. These staff 
provide a strong and ongoing presence 
on the estate alongside being channels 
for communication and feedback

• This community-led approach has 
allowed us to deliver major estate 
regeneration in cooperation with 
residents

Bacton, Gospel Oak

P
age 16



Specialist housing

• We have a scrutiny panel covering homes for older people.

• We have sheltered housing user groups that are consulted on design.

• All housing meets or exceeds the London housing Design Guide, Lifetime Homes.

• We have been achieving 10% wheelchair adaptable accommodation on new 
developments.

P
age 17



Tenure Blindness
We have previously tried pepper potting on a 52 unit scheme. We no longer pursue this 
on new schemes. Experience has shown:

• Different expectations between private owners and social tenants

• Service charge issues – For example a concierge can cause affordability 
issues for social tenants but may help to achieve higher sales receipts.

Our solution is:

• Separate tenures within stair cores where possible

• Ensure the appearance of affordable housing matches the quality of private 
housing

• Both entrances have equal prominence and importance 

P
age 18



Fire Safety

• Major works in progress at Chalcots Estate following evacuation in June 2017

• New Towers have sprinkler systems

• New post of Director for Residents’ Safety has been created and filled

• LBC have approximately 40 blocks over 9 storeys

• Reviews are ongoing of existing stock which started with the tallest blocks

• Materials have been changed on projects on site where there was concern over any  
potential fire risk even though the materials complied with current building regulations

P
age 19



Working with planning

• Our planning team are based in the 
same building as the delivery team.

• Our planning team inputs into our 
extensive pre-planning consultation 
process to help ensure a smoother 
route through planning.

• We work closely with planning to 
discharge planning conditions in a 
timely manner to minimise any 
construction delays.

Bourne Estate

P
age 20



Working with finance
• The CIP programme was put together with close working between the finance and the 

CIP delivery teams using shared excel workbooks.

• Sensitivities were undertaken on sales price falls and works increases prior to 
commencement of the programme.

• Cost and Income forecasts are up updated monthly and monitored across the 
programme for treasury management purposes.

Maiden Lane Tower – Intermediate Rent & Private Sale

P
age 21



Responding to challenges going forward
• Rising construction costs in central London – we are looking at innovative ways of addressing this 

including off-site construction and other forms of procurement.

• Plateauing sales values – we are currently holding approximately £90m in sales risk and this will 
increase as larger schemes begin. We monitor our sales performance weekly and have exit strategies 
under review including market rent.

• There is a wider political environment that is suspicious of housing programmes that involve the 
demolition of social housing. We are confident of our strong offer to existing residents and the quality of 
our completed schemes will ensure continued support.

• The 1% rent reduction combined with the HRA borrowing cap limits have significantly limited our ability 
to use the HRA to fund schemes. We are lobbying to change this.

• We cannot currently combine right-to-buy receipts and GLA grant funding for the same schemes. We 
are lobbying to change this.

•

P
age 22



HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

THE COUNCIL’S NEW BUILD PROGRAMME MINI-REVIEW 

INFORMATION REQUESTED AT THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

   

  

1. Design standards in regards to entrance and exit routes in both high rise and low rise 
properties  
 
The council’s new build schemes meet the current Building Control regulations regarding 
entrances and exits. One entrance/exit is acceptable if there is enhanced protection for the 
staircases, predominately ensuring smoke is vented out of the staircase and through the 
lobby vent out of the building.  
 
The inclusion of more than one entrance/exit would reduce the number of homes built. 
Building Control prioritise compartmentalisation as the most effective form of fire prevention.  
 
 

2. Environmental standards in regards to the toxicity of paint 
 
This is not addressed in building regulations. The paint used on new build developments is a 
well known brand suitable for internal walls and hardwearing in communal areas. 
 
 

3. Checks and balances related to decision-making on design and build choices 
(including use of materials like cladding, etc)  
 
Islington’s New Build team uses a robust set of Employers Requirements (ERs) which set 
out the requirements of the new building. This informs the architect’s design and instructions 
on process and materials for the contractor.  ERs have been developed over time 
(incorporating lessons learned, experience gained) and with inputo from other internal 
departments, such as Building Control and Property Services, and are regularly updated. 

We also take the advice from Building Control about measures we can take beyond Building 

Regulations to improve safety. For example, changes to our approach to fire stopping were a 

result of our relationship with LBI Building Control. A clause was added last year tightening 

the council’s position on fire stopping: 

‘Fire Stopping is a strategic component of compartmentation. Fire stopping must be carried 

out by, and certified by, competent persons. The Contractor must confirm who will be 

installing fire stopping. The competent person installing the fire stopping must be conversant 

and experienced with the fire stopping system proposed. The fire stopping must be 

appropriate for its location, service penetration (cables, pipes and ducts) and include 

standard or fire resistance required by the adopted Code of Practice for the design of the 

building. A schedule of all fire stopping installed must include photographs, a marked up 

annotated drawing of where the fire stopping is installed, with details of the materials and 

person/company who undertook the installation, and utilising a unique reference number to 

clearly identify the area/item installed. Fire stopping systems must receive approval from the 

Employer and their installation must be witnessed and approved by Islington Building 

Control. The Contractor is responsible for liaising with Islington Building Control to obtain 

witnessing of all fire stopping (which is also monitored by the new build project manager)’. 

Page 23



New Build proposals are discussed with Planning and the London Fire Brigade are consulted 
as part of the planning application process. This ensures that projects are compliant with 
current Building Regulations and that access arrangements, fire-fighting facilities (Dry Riser 
Main etc.) are considered and incorporated as required.  Fire Risk Assessments are also 
undertaken prior to occupation – the council’s Construction and Fire Safety Team arrange 
these. 

Though timber frame is the least expensive form of frame, we prohibit the use of timber 
frames on our developments, regardless of height, as a direct response to concerns over 
their safety in event of fire. 
 
Sprinklers have been fitted on the one block at the Redbrick Estate development which is 9 
storeys, though under the current 30m threshold. The new build team will look at providing 
the space to retrofit sprinklers on buildings over 5 storeys. This exceeds current building 
regulations. Should regulations change, new build requirements will incorporate those 
changes. 
 
The new build team has also arranged to meet with Islington’s Building Control Team to 

review materials on individual schemes aiming to achieve higher levels of fire safety. 

The council’s Construction and Fire Safety Team advise on health and safety and liaise with 

in house fire risk assessors as required to inform the projects. Expectations in respect of fire 

safety are set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Contractors and within our Pre-

Construction Information Packs (PCIP) required for major projects under the Construction 

(Design and Management) Regulations 2015.  

This covers limiting fire spread, externally and especially in voids and cavities, testing 

cladding systems, analysis of cladding and external wall components with respect their 

resistance to fire/smoke/heat, and venting to avoid recirculation of external smoke into the 

internal staircase. 

Very few buildings built by the council have used cladding systems, with brick being the 

preferred material for external walls. The small number of low rise blocks that have 

incorporated cladding were checked after Grenfell to ensure the cladding was not the same 

as that on Grenfell. 

During construction regular inspections take place, undertaken by Islington’s Building 

Control Team, Quality Inspectors working on behalf of LBI and also the warranty provider, 

Local Authority Building Control (LABC). The new build team insist that contractors use 

Islington’s in-house Building Control Service and that the warranty is provided through 

LABC.   New developments must meet these standards and only once LABC inspectors 

have confirmed the scheme meets their requirements will they issue a completion certificate 

and only then will the council accept handover. Prior to this the contractor is required to 

produce a Fire Strategy Document which needs approval through Building Control and 

Islington’s Construction and Fire Safety Team. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



4. A breakdown of building costs for an average new housing scheme 
 
The building cost for a new home in the council’s new build programme often varies 
significantly depending on what is being constructed and no single scheme representative of 
the others. However, the Finance team attempted to calculate an average price of a new 
home in the programme. 
 
The total average cost would be £380k per home. This includes an average additionality e.g. 
public realm, landscaping, demolition costs, community centres, lease holder buy backs, 
acquisitions, commercial builds, extra communal areas for supported housing etc.  
 
In percentage terms, additionality equates to anywhere between 10-15% of the total average 
cost. Fees would be in the region of 15% of total average cost 
 
In monetary terms this would equate to approximately £290k for the construction, £45k for 
the fees, and £45k for the additionality. 
 
Appendix 1 breaks down what is covered in construction and fees. 

 
5. Information on how HRA surplus is spent  

 

There are no budgeted surpluses as such, however, when the business plan is reviewed and 

it is identified that resources are available, the priority is new build and investment in our own 

stock. For example, when resources became available last year private sale homes at the 

Goodinge community centre and Rowstock Gardens developments were converted from 

private sale to social rent.   

 

6. Information on Housing Association new build schemes in the borough.  
 
Information to follow.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 25



APPENDIX 1 – BREAKDOWN OF CONSTRUCTION COSTS AND FEES 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION COSTS (MAIN ITEMS) 

 Construction 

 Public realm/landscaping 

 Demolition costs 

 Enabling work 
 

FEES 

Legal / Planning Fees 

 Legal fees 

 Pre-planning meetings 

 Planning application fee 

 Planning Consultant  

 Design Review Panel fee(s) 
 

Surveys/Valuer Related fees 

 Valuation fee 

 Site surveys 

 Building control 

 Party wall surveyor 

 Soil survey 

 Noise and air 

 Topographical survey / utililities 

 Aboricultural survey 

 Code for Sustainable Homes Assessor 

 Ecological Assessment 

 Daylight surveys 
 

Architect / Design fees 

 Architect 

 Landscape architect 
 

Engineering related 

 Mechanical & Electrical Engineer 

 BREEAM Sustainability code assessor 

 Structural engineer 

 Civil engineer 
 

Sales & marketing cost 

 Sales & marketing service 

 Sales spec allowance 
 

Page 26



External project management costs 

 Employers Agent and Quantity Surveyor 

 Clerk of Works 
 

Infrastructure levy / S106 payment 

 LBI Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 S106 

 Mayors CIL 
 

Misc. costs 

 Consultation costs 

 Construction Design Management 

 Carpets /whitegoods 

 CO2 offset 
 

Contingency 

 Contingency 
 

Internal project team cost 

 Development & admin fees 
 

Other ad hoc costs 

 Transport and travel plan 

 Ecological assessment 

 Sustainability services and code assessment 

 Flood risk assessment 

 Other ad hoc surveys (eg asbestos) 

 Rights of Light compensation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HOUSING COMMUNICATIONS REVIEW 2017/18 

DRAFT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Quality of Communications  

1. The council should agree a Code of Communications among the council’s Housing 

services, Partners for Improvement in Islington, and contractors. This should set out 

agreed principles for effective communication, and should seek to ensure consistent 

quality in communication with residents. The Code should cover issues such as 

responsiveness, accessibility, tone of voice, joined up working and record keeping. 

Tenant Management Organisations and Housing Associations should be encouraged 

to adopt a similar code, if they have not done so already.      

 

2. Processes for Housing management to review the quality of staff communications, 

complaint responses and customer journeys should be enhanced. Communications 

and complaints should be reviewed on a regular basis, with clear procedures for how 

quality will be monitored, how these can be escalated for management review, and how 

this will inform officer training and development and internal processes.  

 

3. All front-facing housing staff should have an objective in their appraisal related to 

providing high quality customer services and communication. Progress against this 

objective should be regularly reviewed in one-to-one meetings with management. 

 

Communicating the right information to residents  

4. Digital notice boards on estates should be developed further to include more localised 

content. It is suggested that residents’ associations and other groups be consulted on 

the information these notice boards should display.  

 

5. A ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ section should be added to the Housing section of the 

council’s website. This would help to signpost residents and officers to relevant 

information and answer the most common queries. It is thought that this would free-up 

staff time for other issues.  

 

6. Housing services should seek to provide better feedback to residents on issues they 

report, including estate environmental issues and communal repairs. This could include 

more direct communication with residents, or “you said, we did” style communications.  

 

7. Housing services should keep residents informed of progress with delayed and 

complex repairs, and explain any relevant processes and the reasons for delays. The 

Repairs service should schedule reminders on case files for officers to provide regular 

updates to residents with unresolved repairs.  

 

8. Housing services should consider the feasibility of allocating named case officers to 

deal with complex issues. This would ensure consistency in communication and 

reassure residents that their issue is being dealt with. These officers should be 

empowered to liaise with other services to secure the best outcome for residents.  

 

9. It is recommended that a booklet is produced after each capital works scheme detailing 

the works carried out with before and after images and the cost of the scheme. This 

booklet should be provided to both tenants and leaseholders, and should be available 

in a range of formats.   

Page 29

Agenda Item 3



 

10. The mechanism for officers to report out of date information on the council’s website 

should be promoted further in internal communications.    

 

Supporting staff and joined up working 

 

11. The council should use internal communications to raise awareness of communications 

guidance and relevant training courses. Service managers should encourage their staff 

to make use of the guidance and training available.    

 

12. The Housing Service Ambassadors should have a key role in encouraging joined up 

working. It is recommended that the Service Ambassadors scheme be extended to 

include representatives of all Housing services, and other key services that work in 

partnership with Housing, such as Adult Social Care.  

 

13. To encourage joined-up working and improve services for residents, staff workshops 

should be held which focus on how best to resolve specific and complex issues. These 

workshops should include representation from all relevant housing services and 

partners, and should consider how internal processes and working arrangements can 

be improved to ensure the best possible outcome for residents. This would assist in 

particularly complex matters such as damp and condensation, the repairs access 

procedure, anti-social behaviour, and other matters that require a coordinated 

response.   

 

14. Housing services should review their use of CRM, the council’s customer record 

management system. Wider use of the system would assist officers in communicating 

with residents and assist officers in providing joined up services. It is suggested that 

interaction with other key systems, such as the repairs management system, would be 

beneficial.  

 

15. Caretakers and other front line staff should be empowered to report and follow up 

issues on behalf of residents.  

 

Developing online services 

16. The online repairs reporting system should be promoted further to encourage greater 

usage. It is suggested that the system could be developed further by incorporating the 

reporting of communal repairs.  

 

Other service developments 

17. The Committee welcomes that the Housing Operations service has been redesigned as 

a Homes and Communities service. The Committee requests that an update be 

submitted to the Committee in 12 months’ time on progress in transforming the service. 

 

18. Better use should be made of mailings to residents, such as the annual rent statement.  

For example, the reverse side of letters could include information and advice on 

property maintenance, tenancy management, or promotion of early intervention 

services.  The council should also review the key contact information circulated with the 

rent statement, as residents commented that they were unsure which teams to contact 

about different issues.  

 

Page 30



19. The council should produce a structure chart for housing services detailing key officers 

and the responsibilities of different teams. This would assist officers and councillors in 

directing their queries. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

Fire Safety in Council Housing 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT REPORT OF THE  
HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

London Borough of Islington 
January 2018 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



1 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Fire Safety in Council Housing 
 

Aim: 
 

To review if the fire safety features of the council’s housing stock and associated arrangements are 
sufficient   
 
Evidence: 
The review ran from July 2017 until January 2018. Evidence was received from a variety of sources: 
 

1. Evidence from council officers  

 Stuart Fuller, Construction, Fire and Gas Safety Manager 

 Damian Dempsey, Group Leader – Quantity Surveyors 

 Jan Hart, Service Director – Public Protection 
 
N.B. Sean McLaughlin, Corporate Director of Housing and Adult Social Services, and Simon 
Kwong, Director of Property Services, addressed the June 2017 meeting on urgent fire safety 
matters.   
 

2. Evidence from witnesses 

 Paul Hobbs, Borough Commander – London Fire Brigade 

 John Venning, Head of Asset Management – Partners for Improvement in Islington 
 

3. Documentary evidence  

 Officers’ written responses to the objectives of the review 

 Report: Partners’ management of fire safety 

 Briefing note: Rehousing residents in the event of a fire  

 Briefing note: HMO licensing and fire safety in HMOs 
 

 

4. Scrutiny visits  

 London Scrutiny Network meeting on fire safety, 13 October 2017  

 London Build Expo Fire Safety Summit, 25 October 2017  
 

Main Findings  
 

 The Committee commends the council’s response to the Grenfell Tower fire. One of 
Islington’s emergency planning officers and several of the council’s local authority liaison 
officers supported the emergency response. Four social workers were provided to support 
those affected by the fire. A relief Director of Housing was provided to the Grenfell Fire 
Response Team as 24-hour work was needed to support the survivors of the tragedy. 
Islington Housing Needs and Housing Operations staff were provided to help with the 
temporary housing of those who lost their home. Islington provided counselling services to 
firefighters who attended the scene, and empty properties were offered to those made 
homeless by the fire. In Islington, Housing Services worked quickly to offer reassurance to 
residents, communicate fire risks and submit cladding for testing. Work to review and 
improve the fire safety of the council’s housing stock is ongoing.  
 

 The Committee received a significant amount of evidence on how Islington Council and 
Partners for Improvement in Islington manage and respond to fire risks. This work includes 
regular risk assessment, the maintenance of safety features, joint work with key partners 
such as the London Fire Brigade, and engagement with tenants and leaseholders on fire 
safety issues. 
 

Page 34



2 

 

 Officers advised the Committee that council is well prepared to deal with emergency 
situations, and Islington Council staff attending emergencies in other boroughs have been 
very well received. However, it was also recognised that emergencies on the scale of the 
Grenfell Tower fire required cross-London support and coordination. 
 

 The Committee highlighted the budget cuts to the London Fire Brigade, and asked if these 
had a detrimental effect on the service’s responsiveness. In response, it was advised that 
although the resources to deal with major incidents were more limited, the cuts had not had 
a detrimental impact on the service’s response times. Islington’s Fire Brigade was able to 
respond to fires within six minutes of a call being received. 
 

 The Committee accepts that there is public scepticism about the ‘stay put’ advice, as the 
advice was clearly not effective in the Grenfell Tower fire. However, the Committee 
considers that it is appropriate to follow the advice and expertise of the London Fire Brigade 
on matters related to fire safety. For this reason the ‘stay put’ advice is supported.  
 

 The Committee welcomes the council’s joint work with the Fire Brigade. Council officers 
meet with Fire Brigade colleagues on a weekly basis. The Borough Commander commented 
that Islington Council appears to be very proactive in managing fire safety risks, and was 
very willing to engage with the Fire Brigade. 
 

 Housing services should support the Fire Brigade and Emergency Planning service in 
locating vulnerable and disabled tenants and leaseholders who are not able to evacuate 
themselves from their properties. The Committee welcomes that an information box is being 
installed at Braithwaite House, and recommends that these are rolled out to high rise 
housing blocks across the borough. 
 

 The Committee suggests that vulnerable and disabled residents who are unable to evacuate 
themselves require further advice on what they should do in the event of a fire. The council 
should co-produce an emergency evacuation plan with these residents, with remedial works 
or adaptations carried out to facilitate safe evacuation. Islington Council should engage with 
other housing providers in the borough to encourage them to also co-produce emergency 
evacuation plans with their residents.   
 

 The storage of items in communal areas can be a sensitive issue. However, given that items 
in communal areas can be a fire hazard and an obstruction, the Committee supports a zero 
tolerance approach to storing items in communal areas. It is suggested that targeted 
communications are issued in blocks where there are ongoing problems. 
 

 The Committee would support the installation of sprinklers in all council blocks over six 
storeys in height, which equates to approximately 18 metres. However, the Committee also 
appreciates the significant cost of sprinkler systems, and technical and operational 
challenges related to asbestos removal, water pressure, providing access, resident 
acceptance of trunking/boxing, and ongoing maintenance. Officers advised that the 
indicative cost of installing sprinklers in blocks of 10 storeys and above could be anywhere 
between £43million and £97million, and it is noted that the government has ruled out 
providing funding for these works. It is suggested that the council review the feasibility of 
installing sprinklers, the anticipated cost of the works, and model the financial impact of the 
works on other aspects of the housing service. 
 

 Officers advised that the council has sufficient resources to ensure that its properties comply 
with current fire safety regulations. However, if regulations were to change or additional 
works were commissioned, then additional investment would be required. Since the Grenfell 
Tower fire the government has repeatedly ruled out providing funding for local authorities to 

Page 35



3 

 

fit sprinkler systems. Given the financial constraints on local authorities and the lack of 
available funding, the Committee considers that the cost of carrying out fire safety work 
should be met by central government. 
 

 It is intended to scrutinise the council’s response to the various Grenfell reviews as they 
conclude, to ensure that Islington Council learns from the reviews and carries out any 
actions recommended to ensure the safety of residents.    
 

Conclusions 
 
The Committee welcomes the council’s response to the Grenfell Tower fire. Islington Council has 
provided support to the emergency relief effort and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, 
and stepped up work to review and improve the fire safety of the council’s housing stock.  
 
Housing Services and the Emergency Planning team have effective working relationships with the 
London Fire Brigade. Local agencies, including Partners for Improvement in Islington, work together 
through the Homes and Estates Safety Board to proactively manage fire risks and other safety 
matters.  
 
The Committee has made 21 recommendations in response to the evidence received. These focus 
on maintaining and improving the safety features of the council’s housing stock, managing the fire 
risks to vulnerable and disabled tenants, and ensuring there is ongoing review and scrutiny of how 
the council manages of fire risks. 
 
The Committee expresses its condolences to all of those affected by the Grenfell Tower fire. The 
Committee would like to thank the emergency services, council officers, and others who have 
worked to ensure the safety of Islington residents in the months following the fire.  
 
In carrying out the review, the Committee met with council officers, the London Fire Brigade, 
industry experts and others to gain a balanced view. The Committee would like to thank the 
witnesses that gave evidence in relation to the scrutiny. The Executive is asked to endorse the 
Committee’s recommendations.

Page 36



4 

 

Recommendations  

 
1. Islington Council should follow all relevant recommendations for local authorities and social 

landlords arising from the Grenfell Tower inquiry and the Independent Review of Building 

Regulations and Fire Safety, and any fire safety guidance issued by the Local Government 

Association.  

 

2. Following the conclusions of the Grenfell Tower inquiry, the review of the Equality and Human 

Rights Commission, and the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, a 

report should be submitted to the Housing Scrutiny Committee detailing what actions the council 

will be taking in response to the recommendations.  

 

3. The Housing Scrutiny Committee notes the London Fire Brigade’s continued support of the ‘Stay 

Put’ policy. Islington Council should clearly communicate the London Fire Brigade’s advice to 

tenants and leaseholders, and promote understanding of when residents should ‘Stay Put’ and 

when they should evacuate. Guidance on this should be available in a range of languages and 

should be displayed in prominent areas.  

  

4. The council should maintain the dedicated email address for residents to report fire safety 

concerns to the council. This should be displayed in prominent locations and promoted regularly. 

This information should also be provided to new tenants in a welcome pack. 

 

5. Islington Council should work with vulnerable and disabled tenants and leaseholders to co-

produce personalised emergency evacuation plans. These must be realistic and achievable. 

Any remedial works or adaptations that are required to facilitate safe evacuation should be 

carried out as soon as possible.  

 

6. Islington Council should encourage Partners for Improvement in Islington, TMOs and Housing 

Associations operating in the area to co-produce personalised emergency evacuation plans for 

their disabled and vulnerable residents, and carry out remedial works or adaptations as 

necessary.  

 

7. Islington Council should maintain an up-to-date list of vulnerable council tenants and 

leaseholders who may need assistance to evacuate and make this available to the London Fire 

Brigade and Emergency Planning service. This should detail their flat number and floor, and the 

assistance they require. This information should be kept in a secure information box at the 

premises.  

 

8. Islington Council should encourage Partners for Improvement in Islington, TMOs and Housing 

Associations operating in the area to make information available to the London Fire Brigade and 

Emergency Planning service on the location and assistance needs of vulnerable residents.   

 

9. Islington Council and the London Fire Brigade should explore the feasibility of developing a 

secure electronic solution to accessing the location and assistance needs of disabled and 

vulnerable residents in an evacuation.   

 

10. Islington Council should consider retrofitting sprinkler systems in all high rise housing blocks. 

The council should review the feasibility of installing sprinklers, the anticipated cost of the works, 

and model the financial impact of the works on other aspects of the housing service.  

 

Page 37



5 

 

11. Islington Council should make representations to the government that the cost of retrofitting 

sprinkler systems and carrying out any necessary fire safety works in local authority housing 

should be met by central government, given that no additional funds have been allocated to 

date. 

 

12. The Housing Scrutiny Committee supports the zero tolerance approach to keeping items in 

communal areas adopted by Islington Council and Partners for Improvement in Islington. The 

Committee would support more targeted communications being issued to residents where 

problems persist.   

 

13. Islington Council should consider if a suitably qualified and experienced fire engineer is needed 

to supplement the risk assessment work carried out by the council’s in-house fire safety officers. 

This may provide additional reassurance that fire risks are being managed effectively.  

 

14. The council should consider consulting a suitably qualified and experienced fire engineer at the 

design stage of new build projects. This would help to ensure that properties are designed to the 

highest possible safety standards.    

 

15. Given that hoarding can be a fire hazard, the council should further promote the services 

available to help hoarders, and consider installing mobile sprinkler systems in the homes of 

vulnerable people who are known to hoard.  

 

16. Housing Services should work further with the Season Health Intervention Network (SHINE) to 

target interventions at vulnerable residents who are known to light their homes through candles 

rather than electricity.  

 

17. The council should routinely monitor if communal area fire doors and front entrance fire doors 

are working correctly.  

 

18. To allow the fire safety features of properties to be easily monitored, the housing asset 

management plan should be revised to detail the fire safety features of components.  

 

19. Dry risers in the council’s housing blocks should be checked for damage regularly. Staff on 

estates should be encouraged to report any visible damage or vandalism which would affect 

their functioning.    

 

20. Housing services should maintain a register of fires in council housing. It is suggested that this 

register is backdated for ten years. Recording the cause, extent, and other details of fires may 

help to inform the council’s fire prevention work.  

 

21. The Director of Housing Needs and Strategy should author a report to the Housing Scrutiny 

Committee detailing her experiences and any learning points from her secondments to the 

Grenfell Response Team and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.  

Page 38



6 

 

 

 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 2017/18 
 
 
 
Councillors:  
Councillor Mick O’Sullivan (Chair)   
Councillor Marian Spall (Vice-Chair)   
Councillor Alex Diner     
Councillor Gary Doolan  
Councillor Aysegul Erdogan  
Councillor Troy Gallagher 
Councillor Osh Gantly     
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche MBE     
 
Resident Observers:  
Rose Marie McDonald  
Dean Donaghey     
 
Substitutes: 
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE 
Councillor Gary Heather  
Councillor Jenny Kay  
Councillor Una O’Halloran  
Councillor Olly Parker 
Councillor Angela Picknell 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
 
      
 
 
 
Acknowledgements:   
The Committee expresses its condolences to all of those affected by the Grenfell Tower fire.  
The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to the review.  
The Committee would also like to thank the emergency services, council officers, and others who 
have worked to ensure the safety of residents in the months following the fire. 
 
 
 
 
Officer Support:    
Stuart Fuller – Construction, Fire and Gas Safety Manager 
Damian Dempsey – Group Leader, Quantity Surveyors  
Jonathan Moore – Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



7 

 

 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1 The review was carried out response to the tragic Grenfell Tower fire of 14 June 2017. The 

Grenfell Tower fire caused 71 deaths and over 70 injuries. Over 200 people lost their homes and 
possessions. The Committee considered an urgent item, Fire Safety following the Grenfell 
Tower Fire, at its meeting on 20 June 2017. The Committee formally commenced the review at 
its July 2017 meeting.  

 
1.2 The overall aim of the review was to review if the fire safety features of the council’s housing 

stock and associated arrangements are sufficient.  
 
The Committee also agreed the following objectives:  

 

 To evaluate how fire risks in council properties are identified, assessed, and responded to.   

 To review if the council’s capital programme includes all of the fire safety works it should; and 
to understand the feasibility of fitting alarm systems, sprinklers and fire escapes to council 
housing.   

 To review the Housing Service’s emergency response arrangements in the event of a major 
fire; including evacuation and re-homing plans, and ongoing support arrangements. 

 To assess how the council ensures that its housing stock is compliant with fire safety 
regulations, London Fire Brigade advice and best practice guidance.    

 To identify if there are adequate communications channels for residents to report fire safety 
concerns to the council, and to assess how these are responded to; and to consider the fire 
safety advice provided to residents.  

 To review if there are sufficient capital resources to complete any required fire safety 
improvements to the council’s housing stock.  

 To review if there are sufficient revenue resources to ensure that the council’s housing stock 
remains compliant with fire regulations, building control and health and safety standards, and 
that any fire risks are proactively managed.   

 To evaluate how the council works with Partners and TMOs to ensure that council-owned 
properties which are not directly managed are compliant with fire safety regulations.  

 To review how fire safety is considered at the design stage of refurbishment works and new 
developments, and to review how decisions are made on matters which affect fire safety.  

 To review the working relationships between the council’s Emergency Planning team and 
Local Authority Liaison Officers, and the London Fire Brigade; 

 To review how vulnerable residents are incorporated into evacuation plans and how these 
plans are stored and accessed in the event of an emergency;  

 To review the risks posed by takeaways and hazardous materials being located on the ground 
floor of blocks of flats 

 To review tenancy conditions related to the storage and use of barbeques and gas canisters. 
 

1.3 In carrying out the review the Committee met with officers responsible for fire safety, the capital 
programme, and emergency planning. The Committee also received evidence from the London 
Fire Brigade, Partners for Improvement in Islington, and industry experts. The Chair attended a 
relevant conference and scrutiny network meeting.  
 
Local context  
 

1.4 Islington Council owns over 35,000 homes. Around 25,800 are tenanted properties, and around 
9,300 are leasehold. Around 3,800 homes are managed by tenant management organisations 
and co-operatives, and around 6,300 homes are managed by Partners for Improvement in 
Islington under two private finance initiative contracts.  

Page 40



8 

 

1.5 Since the Grenfell Tower fire there has been considerable concern, locally and nationally, about 
the safety of council housing and high rise housing blocks. Causes for concern include if there 
are adequate safety features such as escape routes, alarm systems and sprinklers; the 
flammability of building materials, such as Aluminium Composite Materials (ACM); structural 
issues such as the integrity of compartmentation; and management issues, including how 
resident concerns about fire safety are reported and responded to.  
 

1.6 Islington Council owns 126 housing blocks of six storeys or higher, which contain over 6,200 
flats. 55 of these blocks have cladding, however only eight have panel cladding. Samples of 
panel cladding from each block were submitted for testing by the Buildings Research 
Establishment, as required by the Department for Communities and Local Government. It was 
found that only one Islington Council block, Braithwaite House, contained ACM cladding. Whilst 
the inquiry into the Grenfell Tower fire is still ongoing, it is recognised that ACM cladding 
contributed to the spread of the fire. As a result, the council started to remove the cladding from 
Braithwaite House in late June 2017.    
 

1.7 The Committee’s review did not focus on the fire safety of particular housing blocks, as a 
technical review was already being carried out by the council in partnership with the London Fire 
Brigade. Instead, the review focused on strategic and policy issues, such as the management of 
fire risks, compliance with regulation, resident engagement, working relationships between key 
agencies, and the council’s preparedness for a major fire.   
 

2. Findings 
 

Awareness of other reviews    
 

2.1 In carrying out the review the Committee was mindful of other reviews commenced in response 
to the Grenfell Tower fire. It is expected that the Grenfell Tower fire will have far reaching 
implications for landlords, local authorities, the building sector, the emergency services, and 
others. The Committee notes that the Grenfell Tower inquiry and the Independent Review of 
Building Regulations and Fire Safety are underway, and are expected to make recommendations 
to help ensure that a tragedy on the scale of the Grenfell Tower fire does not happen again.  
 

2.2 The Committee also notes that the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s ‘Following Grenfell’ 
review is reviewing equality and human rights issues associated with the fire; such as the support 
received by victims, victims’ access to housing and justice, and if victims have been 
discriminated against.  
  

2.3 Changes to guidance and regulation are anticipated. The interim report of the Independent 
Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety found that the current regulatory system for 
ensuring fire safety in high-rise and complex buildings is not fit for purpose. Although the final 
outcome of these reviews is not yet known, the Committee considers that Islington Council 
should follow all relevant recommendations of these reviews when they are available, as well as 
any relevant guidance issued by the Local Government Association.   
 

2.4 It is recommended that Islington Council should follow all relevant recommendations for 
local authorities and social landlords arising from the Grenfell Tower inquiry and the 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, and any fire safety guidance 
issued by the Local Government Association. 
 

2.5 The Committee has expressed its intention to continue reviewing fire safety matters on an 
ongoing basis. It is intended to scrutinise the council’s response to the various Grenfell reviews 
as they conclude, to ensure that Islington Council learns from the reviews and carries out any 
actions recommended to ensure the safety of residents.    
 

Page 41



9 

 

2.6 Following the conclusions of the Grenfell Tower inquiry, the review of the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission, and the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire 
Safety, a report should be submitted to the Housing Scrutiny Committee detailing what 
actions the council will be taking in response to the recommendations. 
 
‘Stay put’ and compartmentation 

 
2.7 Following the Grenfell Tower, the official advice for residents to ‘stay put’ in the event of a fire 

received considerable public scrutiny. As part of the review the Committee wished to assess the 
appropriateness of this advice.  
 

2.8 The advice on how you should respond in the event of a fire varies depending on the type of 
building and how the fire is affecting your property. For fires in purpose built blocks of flats, the 
advice is that residents should stay put unless their flat is affected by fire or smoke, in which case 
they should evacuate.  
 

2.9 The Committee received evidence from the London Fire Brigade on the ‘stay put’ advice. The 
advice is central to how buildings are designed and how firefighters tackle fires in purpose built 
blocks of flats. Purpose built blocks of flats are designed with compartmentation, barriers in the 
building which should ensure that any fire is contained to a single unit and should not spread 
between floors, to neighbouring properties, or into communal areas. Successful 
compartmentation allows residents to safely stay in their property when there is a fire in another 
part of the same building.  
 

2.10 It has been reported that the rapid spread of the Grenfell Tower fire may indicate that the block 
suffered from faulty compartmentation. The Housing Scrutiny Committee has been assured that 
that officers are reviewing the compartmentation of council housing blocks and will rectify any 
defects as required.      
 

2.11 Many purpose built blocks of flats are designed with only one entrance and exit because 
compartmentation should successfully contain any fire. As a result, such buildings are not 
intended to facilitate mass evacuation. The London Fire Brigade emphasised that mass 
evacuation of a tower block would hinder the work of the Fire Brigade, as firefighters would need 
to access the building and tackle the fire through the single entrance. Evacuation can contribute 
to the spread of fire if doors are propped open, and evacuation may be unsafe for vulnerable or 
disabled residents.   

 
2.12 The Committee accepts that there is public scepticism about the ‘stay put’ advice, as the advice 

was clearly not effective in the Grenfell Tower fire. However, the Committee considers that it is 
appropriate to follow the advice and expertise of the London Fire Brigade on matters related to 
fire safety. It should be noted that the London Fire Brigade reissued their ‘stay put’ advice 
following the Grenfell Tower fire and continue to promote it. The Committee considers that the 
council should assist the London Fire Brigade in communicating its advice to residents.  
 

2.13 The Housing Scrutiny Committee notes the London Fire Brigade’s continued support of 
the ‘stay put’ policy. Islington Council should clearly communicate the London Fire 
Brigade’s advice to tenants and leaseholders, and promote understanding of when 
residents should ‘stay put’ and when they should evacuate. Guidance on this should be 
available in a range of languages and should be displayed in prominent areas.  
 

2.14 Many of Islington Council’s properties are not purpose-built blocks of flats and therefore the ‘stay 
put’ advice is not appropriate. The Committee noted that letters had been sent to all tenants and 
leaseholders to communicate the relevant fire safety advice for their property. The Committee 
welcomes that work is underway to install linked fire alarms in street properties, which do not 

Page 42



10 

 

have compartmentation. This will ensure that all residents in a street property are alerted to 
evacuate in the event of a fire.   

 
The council’s management of fire risks  

 
2.15 The Committee received a significant amount of evidence on how Islington Council manages and 

responds to fire risks. The council manages fire risks through regular risk assessment, the 
maintenance of safety features, joint work with key partners such as the London Fire Brigade, 
and engagement with tenants and leaseholders on fire safety issues.  
 

2.16 Every council block has its fire risk assessment reviewed at least every three years, or every 
year for properties over six storeys. These reviews are carried out by in house officers, including 
former building control and fire service personnel. The fire risk of every block is rated as either 
Tolerable (low risk), Moderate (medium risk), or Substantial (high risk). Blocks rated as having 
‘Moderate’ risk receive a fire risk assessment annually; those rated as having a ‘Substantial’ risk 
are reviewed within three months. The vast majority of Islington Council blocks are rated as 
Tolerable. Any required actions identified in a fire risk assessment are assigned to the relevant 
officer and entered into a web-based application. This allows fire risks and progress to be 
monitored by management, and provides an audit trail of fire risks and actions taken in response.  
 

2.17 The council brought its housing management function back in-house in 2012, having previously 
been managed by an arms-length management organisation, Homes for Islington. Officers 
advised the Committee that that the fire safety information received from Homes for Islington at 
this time was exemplary.  
 

2.18 In 2012 the council established a Homes and Estates Safety Board, which has a similar structure 
to the council’s adult and child safeguarding boards. The Board is independently chaired and a 
number of local agencies are represented at meetings, including the London Fire Brigade and 
Partners for Improvement in Islington. The Executive Member for Housing and Development 
attends Board meetings. The Board meet quarterly to consider safety issues. The Board 
examines six key safety areas, including fire safety, and reviews management arrangements, 
trends and current issues, and monitors performance through a quarterly key performance 
indicator report.  
 

2.19 The council also holds regular liaison meetings with the London Fire Brigade. These meetings 
consider general safety issues, as well as specific casework related to those most at risk from 
fire. For example, the meetings may consider the specific needs of residents who are frail or 
have physical impairments, those who have mental health issues, hoarders, heavy smokers and 
people with substance abuse issues. Social care representatives also contribute to these 
discussions.  
 

2.20 The Fire Brigade is invited to comment on planning applications considered by the council as the 
local planning authority. This allows the Fire Brigade to consider any fire risks associated with 
new developments and make recommendations as required.   
 

2.21  The Committee welcomes the council’s joint work with the Fire Brigade. The Fire Brigade carries 
out ‘post-fire visits’ jointly with housing officers to evaluate the causes and impact of fires in 
council properties, and occasionally carries out joint inspections with housing officers if there is a 
specific fire safety concern. Since October 2017 a senior Fire Brigade officer has been co-
located at 222 Upper Street every Tuesday morning. This allows regular dialogue between 
housing officers and the Fire Brigade, and any fire safety issues are able to be discussed openly. 
The Borough Commander informed the Committee that Islington Council appears to be very 
proactive in managing fire safety risks, and was very willing to engage with the Fire Brigade. The 
Borough Commander explained that although he had only been in post for a few months, he had 
not faced any barriers to working with the council, which was not the case in all boroughs. 

Page 43



11 

 

 
 

2.22 The Committee noted the fire safety works carried out through the capital programme in recent 
years. Following the Lakanal House fire in 2009, the Local Government Association issued 
guidance on purpose built blocks of flats which recommended the installation of self-closing front 
entrance fire doors as a matter of priority. The council’s capital programme has therefore focused 
on the installation of self-closing fire doors in recent years. Islington Council is responsible for 
upgrading the doors to tenanted properties, whereas leaseholders are responsible for fitting such 
doors to their own properties.  
 

2.23 The Committee notes that the council has taken a stronger stance on leaseholder installation of 
fire doors following the Grenfell Tower fire. The council has contacted leaseholders without fire 
doors advising that they needed to either fit their own door or opt-in to the council’s door fitting 
scheme within seven days, otherwise the council would seek a court injunction requiring them to 
fit a compliant door. The Committee notes that there have been discussions between the council 
and leaseholders about the council’s powers to require leaseholders to fit fire doors.  Officers 
have clarified that the Fire Brigade and Building Control are the enforcing authorities for fire 
safety concerns, however the council as landlord had a duty of care to all residents in its 
properties and would take action in instances where leaseholders would not fit fire safe doors. 
 

 Partners management of fire risks  
 

2.24 The Committee received evidence from Partners on how they manage fire risks in the properties 
they manage on the council’s behalf. It was noted that Partners holds regular fire safety meetings 
and attends Islington Homes and Estates Safety Board meetings. Fire safety matters could also 
be considered in contract performance meetings with Islington Council. Partners officers 
commented that they took their fire safety responsibilities very seriously.  
 

2.25 The most significant fire risk to Partners’ properties is the lack of linked fire protection systems. 
Street properties do not have compartmentation and therefore the ‘stay put’ policy is not 
appropriate; a fire in a first floor flat could feasibly spread to the flats above and below. For this 
reason, linked fire alarms are to be installed in all Partners properties between 2018 and 2020. 
Emergency lighting is to be installed in communal areas also. This work is being carried out by 
Islington Council rather than Partners.   
 

2.26 Partners has a Fire Safety Policy, which was independently audited by a health and safety 
consultant in February 2017. Partners had made changes to risk assessment forms as a result. 
Following the Grenfell Tower fire Partners asked its independent health and safety consultant if a 
re-audit was required and received advice that this was not required. Partners is confident that its 
Fire Safety Policy is fit for purpose. The Committee has suggested that a second opinion on the 
policy may provide additional reassurance. 
 

2.27 Partners carries out fire risk assessments every three years. Communal area risk assessments 
are carried out more regularly. Communal areas in higher risk properties are inspected every six 
months, other properties are assessed at least every two years. Partners manages 404 ‘higher 
risk’ properties, which are designated ‘higher risk’ as they have four or more flights of stairs.  
Some properties have emergency lighting and this is tested on an annual basis.  
 

2.28 Most Partners properties are fitted with a hard wired smoke detector. The Committee was 
advised that 108 properties did not have a hard wired detector; however, these would be 
installed by the end of October 2017. The Committee considered concerns that these alarms 
were not always accessible to vulnerable and disabled people; a member of the Committee 
provided an example of an elderly person in a Partners property in Milner Square with very high 
ceilings. It was commented that the alarms can only be tested and deactivated manually, so 
residents who are not able to use ladders are resorting to using broomsticks or other aids. The 

Page 44



12 

 

Committee noted that remote-controlled alarms are available and commented these would be 
much more suitable in these properties, particularly for vulnerable and disabled people. The 
Committee raised this with Partners and it was advised that the alarms were installed in 2003 
and there were no plans to install new alarms before the next scheduled maintenance work in 
2018. The Committee suggests that such issues should be addressed on a more regular basis, 
and safety features in properties should be appropriate to the type of property and needs of the 
resident. 

    
 Resident Engagement 
 

2.29 The Committee considered the importance of engagement and communication with residents on 
fire safety maters. Local residents, particularly those in high rise blocks, are concerned about fire 
safety. Shortly after the Grenfell Tower fire a small fire on the Harvist Estate prompted 200 
people to evacuate a block, with one woman suffering injuries after jumping out of a second floor 
window. It is essential for housing providers to engage regularly with residents on safety matters, 
to be open and honest in their approach, and to offer reassurance and to respond to resident 
concerns. Housing providers must work with local communities on safety issues such as the use 
of barbeques and obstructions in communal areas; a lack of official and credible guidance can 
lead to the spread of misinformation and poor fire safety practices.     
 

2.30 The Committee welcomes the work of officers to reassure residents following the Grenfell Tower 
fire. A letter was sent to all Islington Council and Partners tenants advising them of the fire safety 
works already underway, how to report fire safety concerns, and advice on how to respond in the 
event of a fire. This advice was tailored to the type of property the resident lives in. Following the 
Grenfell Tower fire officers also attended estate meetings to answer questions from residents, 
and door-knocking exercises took place to offer advice and answer questions.    
 

2.31 Following the Grenfell Tower fire, the council developed the Fire Safety pages on its website, 
incorporating a Frequently Asked Questions document and other key information. In June 2017 
the Council passed a motion requiring that the council make public its fire risk assessments for 
high rise properties. These began to be published in September 2017. The council also promoted 
its dedicated fire safety email address, firesafety@islington.gov.uk   
 

2.32 Both Islington Council and Partners periodically provide fire safety advice to residents through 
newsletters and other communications channels. Advice is also provided in the new tenant sign-
up pack which explains fire safety strategies and basic advice on preventing fires. The new 
tenant sign-up process also offers all new tenants the opportunity to request a Home Fire Safety 
Visit from the London Fire Brigade. 
 

2.33 The Committee emphasised the importance of transparency in fire safety matters. The council 
and all housing providers must be responsive to the concerns of residents, and be proactive in 
encouraging residents to report any concerns they have. The Committee suggests that the 
dedicated fire safety email address should be maintained and promoted regularly. Information on 
the reporting of fire safety concerns should be prominent in the new tenant pack.  
 

2.34 The council should maintain the dedicated email address for residents to report fire safety 
concerns to the council. This should be displayed in prominent locations and promoted 
regularly. This information should also be provided to new tenants in a welcome pack. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45

mailto:firesafety@islington.gov.uk


13 

 

London Fire Brigade  
 

2.35 The Committee received evidence from the London Fire Brigade on various matters, including 
their responsiveness, how they tackle fires in high rise properties, and their work with Islington 
Council. Details of the Fire Brigade’s partnership work with the council is covered elsewhere in 
this report.  
 

2.36 The Borough Commander is responsible for the operational response to fires in Islington. Around 
80 individuals are employed by the Fire Brigade in the borough, based across two sites. Two fire 
engines are assigned to the borough, however engines based in neighbouring boroughs are 
available if requested. The nearest available fire engine is always despatched to a fire, so those 
living near the borough boundary may be served by fire engines based in other boroughs. Major 
fires require attendance by several fire engines and a cross-London response; in such instances 
fire engines on standby will be relocated across London to ensure that no area is left vulnerable 
to fire.  
 

2.37 The Committee highlighted the budget cuts to the fire service, and asked if these had a 
detrimental effect on the service’s responsiveness. In response, it was advised that although the 
resources to deal with major incidents were more limited, the cuts had not had a detrimental 
impact on the service’s response times. Islington’s Fire Brigade was able to respond to fires 
within six minutes of a call being received.  
 

2.38 Islington previously had six fire engines stationed inside the borough. Although Islington now had 
four fewer engines, the Borough Commander advised that response times had been maintained 
through an increased focus on fire prevention. The London Fire Brigade had increased its focus 
on home safety visits, hoarding, and problematic smoking in recent years. The Fire Brigade 
commented on the importance of working with local authority partners and other landlords. The 
Fire Brigade regularly held familiarisation meetings in larger housing blocks so they were aware 
of their structure, safety features and access routes. 

 

Emergency Planning  
 

2.39 The Committee wished to review the council’s preparedness for an emergency on the scale of 
the Grenfell Tower fire and received evidence on the council’s emergency planning function.  The 
council has statutory duties under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to prepare for emergencies. 
The council’s Emergency Planning service is comprised of three officers who work in partnership 
with other services and agencies to meet the council’s duties under the Act. 

 

2.40 Islington Council has an emergency planning officer and corporate director on duty at all times in 
case of emergencies. The council has also appointed 23 Local Authority Liaison Officers 
(LALOs), council officers who are trained in emergency response and making decisions in 
emergency situations. 60 staff are trained to manage rest centres, and 150 staff in total were 
available to attend an emergency situation if required. The Committee welcomed that this is a 
higher resource level than other local authorities have available. Officers noted that most London 
local authorities appointed around five LALOs, however Islington’s approach is that a number of 
staff should be trained to respond and make decisions in emergency situations. Officers 
commented that the council has swift response times. For example, following the Finsbury Park 
terrorist attack council officers were in attendance and offering assistance within 30 minutes. 
 

2.41 Islington Council had a contract with the Red Cross to provide emergency clothing, toiletries and 
bedding if required. There was also provision to provide residents with emergency money. In an 
emergency situation any rest centres would be located in the borough. However, if residents 
were unable to return to their home then they would likely be offered hotel accommodation which 
could be outside of the borough. In this instance each resident would have a named contact 
officer to liaise with. 
 

Page 46



14 

 

2.42 London boroughs offer mutual aid to each other in emergency situations. Islington officers had 
assisted Kensington and Chelsea following the Grenfell Tower Fire, and Camden following the 
evacuation of the Chalcots Estate. Islington’s own emergency plans have been revised in light of 
officers’ experiences of attending those emergencies. In particular, it is now recognised that the 
council needs to be prepared to deal with large emergencies which continue for several weeks. 
As a result, the council is seeking to train more officers in emergency response, so that a rest 
centre and other emergency provision can be maintained for longer periods in a sustainable way.  
 

2.43 The council could request mutual aid by triggering London Local Authority Gold Arrangements. 
This results in a single London local authority chief executive taking control of the strategic 
response to an emergency. A London Local Authority Coordination Centre is then established to 
coordinate the emergency activities of all local authorities. There is a London local authority chief 
executive on call at all times to coordinate gold arrangements if required. Such arrangements are 
in place as it is recognised that some emergencies are so significant that a cross-London 
response is necessary.  
 

2.44 Officers advised the Committee that council is well prepared to deal with emergency situations, 
and Islington Council staff attending emergencies in other boroughs had been very well received. 
However, it was also recognised that emergencies on the scale of the Grenfell Tower fire 
required cross-London support and coordination. The Committee noted that there had been a 
delay to the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea triggering gold arrangements; officers 
thought that local authorities would learn from this and would not delay the trigger of gold 
arrangements in future. 
 

2.45 A member commented on his experience of a recent fire in the early hours of the morning. He 
advised that the fire fighters attending the scene did not seem to be aware of the council’s 
emergency procedures, and concerned residents contacted an elected member for support, who 
was not aware of who to contact. The situation was resolved by the councillor contacting a 
corporate director by telephone. In response, it was advised that out-of-hours emergencies 
should be reported to Contact Islington on 020 7527 2000; which was staffed 24 hours a day. It 
was also commented that the emergency services control room was able to contact the council in 
an emergency. It was advised that a note would be circulated to all councillors to clarify this 
position.  The Committee suggested that training should be given to councillors to help them to 
better understand how they can assist in an emergency situation. It was suggested that a 
demonstration of how gold command was triggered and worked in practice would also be useful.  
 

2.46 The Committee queried if the council should hold practice evacuations in high rise blocks to 
prepare residents for emergency situations. It was advised that there were no plans to hold 
practice evacuations; this would be a significant task and would cause distress and 
inconvenience, particularly to vulnerable and disabled people.  
 

2.47 Officers advised that the Emergency Planning service has a well-established relationship with all 
emergency services in Islington and across London including with the London Fire Brigade. This 
has enabled the Emergency Planning service to develop training links with local fire stations 
whereby the council’s Local Authority Liaison Officers attend a station and carry out training on 
the Fire Brigade Command Units alongside Fire Brigade Officers; this provides a realistic 
experience in the workings of the command units and their integral part of co-ordination during 
an emergency. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



15 

 

Ensuring the safety of vulnerable and disabled residents in an emergency 
 

2.48 The Committee was keen to review the council’s processes for ensuring the safety of vulnerable 
and disabled residents in an emergency such as a fire. It was queried if the council had 
evacuation plans for housing blocks, and if these were shared with the Fire Brigade. In response, 
it was advised that the housing service did not maintain evacuation plans as mass evacuation 
was not encouraged or expected. It was reiterated that the fire safety advice for larger blocks 
was to ‘stay put’ unless the fire is directly affecting your property. In such circumstances, 
residents were expected to evacuate themselves. 
 

2.49 The Committee queried if the council had details of vulnerable and disabled residents who may 
be unable to evacuate themselves in a fire, and if this information was shared with the Fire 
Brigade. In response, it was advised that information on vulnerable residents was held and had 
previously been provided to the Fire Brigade, however the Fire Brigade had commented that it 
contained too much information. Officers suggested that the Fire Brigade was primarily 
concerned with the location of fire hazards, such as residents with oxygen canisters for medical 
purposes. 

 
2.50 The Committee raised this point with the Borough Commander of the London Fire Brigade. In 

response, it was commented that greater information on the location and needs of disabled and 
vulnerable people would help in an emergency, however clear guidance would be needed on 
where the information was stored and who would be responsible for maintaining its accuracy. 
The Committee noted that an information box was being installed at Braithwaite House which 
would hold such information. The Housing Service had previously considered installing local 
information boxes at several larger blocks, however it was decided not to take this up due to 
concerns over data protection and how the information would be kept up to date.  
 

2.51 The Committee asked officers how disabled and vulnerable people would be evacuated in an 
emergency situation. It was advised that in the case of a planned evacuation a multi-agency 
meeting would be held to prepare for evacuation and after care. For example, it was commented 
that rest centers are not appropriate for vulnerable people with complex needs, and social 
services would need to find suitable temporary accommodation before the evacuation 
commenced. However, officers advised that in an urgent emergency situation with limited time to 
prepare, the reality would be officers knocking on doors to establish who was in each property 
and identify their needs. In that scenario, information on resident vulnerabilities would be 
ascertained from the residents themselves and their neighbours, friends and family.  
 

2.52 The Committee suggests that further work is needed to ensure the safety of disabled and 
vulnerable residents in emergency situations. Housing services should support the Fire Brigade 
and Emergency Planning service in locating tenants and leaseholders who are not able to 
evacuate themselves from their properties. The Committee welcomes that an information box is 
being installed at Braithwaite House, and recommends that these are rolled out to high-rise 
housing blocks across the borough.  
 

2.53 Islington Council should maintain an up-to-date list of vulnerable council tenants and 
leaseholders who may need assistance to evacuate and make this available to the London 
Fire Brigade and Emergency Planning service. This should detail their flat number and 
floor, and the assistance they require. This information should be kept in a secure 
information box at the premises.  
 

2.54 The Committee asked if Partners had a register of their vulnerable and disabled tenants which 
they could refer to in the event of a fire. In response, it was advised that Partners did maintain a 
list of disabled and vulnerable tenants, including hoarders, however this largely relied on tenants 
self-identifying as vulnerable or disabled and it was acknowledged that the data may not be 

Page 48



16 

 

complete. To improve their data, all Partners staff were required to feedback any concerns about 
vulnerable residents to their manager. The Committee hopes that this will result in Partners 
holding more accurate data on the needs of their residents.  
 

2.55 The Committee notes that the council is one of many social housing providers in the borough, 
and the emergency services may not have information on the needs of vulnerable and disabled 
people residing in properties managed by other organisations. It is therefore recommended that 
the council should engage with other housing providers and encourage them to make such 
information available to the Fire Brigade an Emergency Planning service.  
 

2.56 Islington Council should encourage Partners for Improvement in Islington, TMOs and 
Housing Associations operating in the area to make information available to the London 
Fire Brigade and Emergency Planning service on the location and assistance needs of 
vulnerable residents.   

 
2.57 The Committee received evidence from a wheelchair user who lives in a council housing block. 

She commented that she was unable to escape her property in the event of a fire. Her plan was 
to escape to the balcony, and although her neighbours had helped to clear access, she was 
unable to access her balcony as the door needed adjusting. She commented that these issues 
had been raised with the Housing Service however had not been followed up. The resident also 
expressed concern that the Fire Brigade may be unaware of her specific needs. Officers 
contacted the resident to follow up these matters outside of the meeting.  

 
2.58 The Chair attended a London Scrutiny Network session on fire safety, which included a 

presentation from the London Fire Brigade on fire safety in flats. The Fire Brigade representative 
stated that although the ‘stay put’ policy was supported; the London Fire Brigade was 
campaigning for landlords to make evacuation plans for residents in case they had to leave their 
property. This is particularly important for vulnerable residents, who may require a personal 
emergency evacuation plan. 

 
2.59 The Committee considers that vulnerable and disabled residents who are unable to evacuate 

themselves require further advice on what they should do in the event of a fire. The council 
should co-produce an emergency evacuation plan with these residents, with remedial works or 
adaptations carried out to facilitate safe evacuation.   

 
2.60 Islington Council should work with vulnerable and disabled tenants and leaseholders to 

co-produce personalised emergency evacuation plans. These must be realistic and 
achievable. Any remedial works or adaptations that are required to facilitate safe 
evacuation should be carried out as soon as possible.  
 

2.61 Islington Council should engage with other housing providers in the borough to encourage them 
to also co-produce emergency evacuation plans with their residents.   
 

2.62 Islington Council should encourage Partners for Improvement in Islington, TMOs and 
Housing Associations operating in the area to co-produce personalised emergency 
evacuation plans for their disabled and vulnerable residents, and carry out remedial 
works or adaptations as necessary.  
 

2.63 The Committee noted data protection concerns related to keeping information on the location 
and needs of vulnerable and disabled residents in information boxes.  It is suggested that an 
electronic solution could hold this data in a secure and practical way, and an app could be 
developed for this purpose. 
 

Page 49



17 

 

2.64 Islington Council and the London Fire Brigade should explore the feasibility of developing 
a secure electronic solution to accessing the location and assistance needs of disabled 
and vulnerable residents in an evacuation.   
 
Sprinkler systems 
 

2.65 Several London Boroughs, including Waltham Forest, Croydon, Enfield and Wandsworth, have 
decided to retrofit sprinkler systems to their high rise housing blocks following the Grenfell Tower 
fire. The Committee considered the merits of installing sprinkler systems in the council’s high rise 
housing blocks.  
 

2.66 The Committee notes the different regulatory regimes relating to sprinklers across the United 
Kingdom. In England, sprinkler systems are required in all new residential blocks over 30 metres 
in height. In Scotland, it is a requirement to install sprinkler systems in new residential blocks 
over 18 metres in height. In Wales, sprinkler systems are required in all new and refurbished 
residential buildings.  
 

2.67 There is no regulatory requirement anywhere in the UK for sprinkler systems to be 
retrospectively fitted. The Local Government Association’s Purpose Built Blocks of Flats 
guidance, published in 2011 following the Lakanal House fire, states ‘It is unlikely that retrofitting 
sprinklers or water mist systems would be reasonably practicable for existing blocks.’ However, 
the London Fire Brigade is now campaigning for landlords to voluntarily retrofit sprinkler systems 
in all high-rise tower block over 18m in height. The London Fire Brigade’s view is that sprinklers 
are an effective means of detecting and supressing fire, which save lives and property and 
improve firefighter safety. The Royal Institute of British Architects has recommended to the 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety that sprinklers (or similar automatic 
fire suppression systems) are retrofitted to existing residential buildings over 18 metres in height, 
and perhaps extended to all residential buildings above three storeys in height. The interim report 
of the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety has not made firm 
conclusions on the use of sprinklers.  
 

2.68 A variety of different sprinkler systems are available; the most appropriate system is dependent 
on the configuration of the building and its plumbing. Sprinklers are activated through 
temperature control and activate within 30 seconds of a fire starting. Research has demonstrated 
that it can take up to 20 minutes for fire fighters to begin tackling fires, taking into account the 
time it takes for the fire to be identified, for a call to be made to the emergency services, and for 
the Fire Brigade to attend and prepare their equipment.  
 

2.69 The Committee would support the installation of sprinklers in all council blocks over six storeys in 
height, which equates to approximately 18 metres. However, the Committee also appreciates the 
significant cost of sprinkler systems, and technical and operational challenges related to 
asbestos removal, water pressure, providing access, resident acceptance of trunking/boxing, and 
ongoing maintenance. Officers advised that the indicative cost of installing sprinklers in blocks of 
10 storeys and above could be anywhere between £43million and £97million, and it is noted that 
the government has ruled out providing funding for these works. It is suggested that the council 
review the feasibility of installing sprinklers, the anticipated cost of the works, and model the 
financial impact of the works on other aspects of the housing service. 
 

2.70 Islington Council should consider retrofitting sprinkler systems in all high rise housing 
blocks. The council should review the feasibility of installing sprinklers, the anticipated 
cost of the works, and model the financial impact of the works on other aspects of the 
housing service.  
 
 

Page 50



18 

 

2.71 The Chair attended the Fire Safety Summit at the London Build Expo. Evidence was received 
from the British Automatic Fire Sprinkler Association on the cost of retrofitting sprinkler systems. 
It was advised that the Callow Mount tower block in Sheffield was retrofitted with a sprinkler 
system in 2011 at a cost of £1,148 per flat. However, it was noted that the cost of installing 
sprinkler systems is rising. In 2017 the London Fire Brigade estimated that the cost of fitting a 
sprinkler system was approximately £1,500 to £2,500 per one-bedroom flat. These costs do not 
include ongoing maintenance.  
 

2.72 There is research to indicate that that retrofitting sprinklers is cost effective given the significant 
costs associated with refurbishment and rehousing residents in the event of a fire. The London 
Fire Brigade estimates that the cost of re-furbishing a one-bedroom flat after a fire is about 
£77,000. However, the retrofitting of sprinkler systems would be a significant cost for Islington 
Council, likely costing tens of million pounds. It is expected that this would have a very significant 
impact on the housing revenue account, which is a protected fund relating to the council’s 
landlord function. As councils are not permitted to make up any deficit on the housing revenue 
account from their own resources, any additional pressure on the housing revenue account 
would likely have a detrimental impact on the provision of other housing services.  
 

2.73 Evidence received from officers advised that the council has sufficient resources to ensure that 
its properties comply with current fire safety regulations. However, if regulations were to change 
or additional works were commissioned, then additional investment would be required. Since the 
Grenfell Tower fire the government has repeatedly ruled out providing funding for local 
authorities to fit sprinkler systems. Given the financial constraints on local authorities and the lack 
of available funding, the Committee considers that the cost of carrying out fire safety work should 
be met by central government. It is recommended that representations are made to government 
on this matter.     
 

2.74 Islington Council should make representations to the government that the cost of 
retrofitting sprinkler systems and carrying out any necessary fire safety works in local 
authority housing should be met by central government, given that no additional funds 
have been allocated to date. 
 
Communal Areas  
 

2.75 The Committee understands that the storage of items in communal areas can be a sensitive 
issue. However, given that items in communal areas can be a fire hazard and an obstruction, the 
Committee supports a zero tolerance approach to storing items in communal areas. Partners 
previously had a ‘managed use’ policy on keeping items in communal areas, however since the 
Grenfell Tower fire Partners had re-introduced a zero tolerance approach.   

 

2.76 The Committee heard concerns that some residents were continuing to store items in communal 
areas, despite fire safety advice being circulated following the Grenfell Tower fire. It is suggested 
that targeted communications are issued in blocks where there are ongoing problems.  

 

2.77 The Housing Scrutiny Committee supports the zero tolerance approach to keeping items 
in communal areas adopted by Islington Council and Partners for Improvement in 
Islington. The Committee would support more targeted communications being issued to 
residents where problems persist.   

 

2.78 The Committee queried if fire extinguishers should be provided in communal areas of council 
properties. In response it was explained that the London Fire Brigade advised against this, as 
people put themselves in danger by attempting to tackle fires themselves. Different fires required 
different types of extinguishers, and using the wrong type of extinguisher on a fire could make 
the fire worse. It was therefore not intended to provide fire extinguishers in council housing.  
 

Page 51



19 

 

2.79 Communal fire alarms are not fitted in high rise housing blocks. LGA guidance on purpose built 
blocks of flats describes communal fire alarms as ‘unnecessary and undesirable’, suggesting that 
communal systems inevitably lead to a proliferation of false alarms, which would impose a 
burden on fire and rescue services and lead to residents ignoring warnings of genuine fires.  
 

2.80 Officers advised the Committee that a single staircase as a means of escape is not uncommon 
or considered to be a major concern. However, it is important to protect this means of escape 
through suitable self-closing fire doors. It was suggested that providing additional means of 
escape would likely be costly, encounter planning difficulties, and may lead to security concerns. 
 
Fire Engineers  
 

2.81 The competency of those carrying out fire risk assessments was raised as a possible issue at the 
London Scrutiny Network meeting on fire safety. There is no legal requirement for fire risk 
assessors to hold professional qualifications or be accredited by a professional body. A 
representative of the Fire Brigade emphasised the importance of fire risk assessments being 
completed by a suitably qualified and competent person, and suggested that local authorities 
may wish for their fire risks to be assessed by a fire engineer. Fire engineers hold professional 
qualifications to at least degree level and are accredited by the Institution of Fire Engineers. They 
are recognised experts in engineering and fire safety, and work to minimise fire risks by 
influencing the design and construction of buildings. 
 

2.82 The council’s fire risk assessments are carried out by in-house fire safety officers. Although these 
officers are not fire engineers, they do have considerable professional experience of working in 
Building Control and the London Fire Brigade. The Committee did not receive any evidence to 
suggest that the council’s fire risk assessments were deficient. However, it is suggested that the 
council consider if a fire engineer is needed to supplement the risk assessment work of the 
council’s fire safety officers.  
 

2.83 Islington Council should consider if a suitably qualified and experienced fire engineer is 
needed to supplement the risk assessment work carried out by the council’s in-house fire 
safety officers. This may provide additional reassurance that fire risks are being managed 
effectively.  

 
2.84 The Committee also suggests that it might be appropriate to consult a fire engineer at the design 

stage of new build projects. At the Fire Safety Summit attended by the Chair, a Fire Industry 
Association representative recommended that a chartered fire engineer should be consulted from 
the design through to completion on new build schemes. This would enable the engineer to 
influence the design of the building, develop the fire strategy, and oversee construction to ensure 
that fire safety features are installed successfully. The Committee recognises that this may be 
useful, however the appropriateness of consulting a fire engineer would depend on the type of 
housing being developed and any unique circumstances and features of the property.  
 

2.85 The council should consider consulting a suitably qualified and experienced fire engineer 
at the design stage of new build projects. This would help to ensure that properties are 
designed to the highest possible safety standards.    
 
Supporting fire prevention for vulnerable people    

 
2.86 The Committee considered if the council could better support fire prevention for vulnerable 

people. A member advised the Committee of a vulnerable resident with mental health issues. 
The resident was a known hoarder and had been asked to remove a number of items stored on 
her balcony. It was understood that the resident had received correspondence about the fire risks 
associated with hoarding, however it was suggested that the resident did not have the capacity to 
understand these risks and remove the items herself. The Executive Member for Housing and 

Page 52



20 

 

Development advised that there was support available for hoarders and agreed to take up this 
case with officers. The Committee considered that this may not be an isolated incident, and 
suggested that services for hoarders could be promoted further. Increased take up of support 
services would help to reduce fire risks.  
 

2.87 It was also suggested that mobile sprinkler systems could be installed in the homes of hoarders. 
Funding for this may be available through the London Fire Brigade Fire Safety Investment Fund, 
which provides preventative equipment to vulnerable residents. Around £31,000 of the fund has 
been spent in Islington, out of a total of £2,00,000 awarded across London. Typical purchases 
include fire retardant bedding and sprinkler systems for bed bound residents.  
 

2.88 Given that hoarding can be a fire hazard, the council should further promote the services 
available to help hoarders, and consider installing mobile sprinkler systems in the homes 
of vulnerable people who are known to hoard.  
 

2.89 The Committee is also concerned about fuel poverty, and the possibility of vulnerable residents 
increasing their fire risk by lighting their homes through candles. It is noted that approximately 
6,600 Islington residents are in fuel poverty; the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee has previously reviewed this issue and made recommendations to improve services 
for people in fuel poverty. It is thought that further work with the Seasonal Health Intervention 
Network may assist in supporting these vulnerable people and reducing their fire risk.  
 

2.90 Housing Services should work further with the Seasonal Health Intervention Network 
(SHINE) to target interventions at vulnerable residents who are known to light their 
homes through candles rather than electricity.  

 
 Ensuring ongoing fire safety   
 

2.91 The Committee made a number of suggestions for how the fire safety of the council’s housing 
can be promoted.  
 

2.92 The Committee received evidence on the importance of fire doors, which are designed to 
contain fires to a single property. In recent years the council had made significant investments in 
upgrading the front entrance doors of tenanted properties, and was seeking to take action 
against leaseholders who had not installed compliant fire doors. The Fire Brigade advised that 
some residents tampered with self-closing mechanisms on fire doors and compromised the 
safety of buildings as a result.  
 

2.93 It is recommended that the council should routinely monitor if communal area fire doors 
and front entrance fire doors are working correctly.  
 

2.94 The Committee notes that the Housing Asset Management Plan may not have comprehensive 
information on the fire safety specifications of all council properties. It is thought that further 
information on the fire safety features of components will assist the council in prioritising 
improvement works in future.   
 

2.95 To allow the fire safety features of properties to be easily monitored, the housing asset 
management plan should be revised to detail the fire safety features of components.  

 
2.96 The maintenance of dry risers is essential to ensure that fire fighters are able to tackle fires 

within council properties, particularly on the upper floors of high rise blocks. It is suggested that 
the council could raise awareness of the importance of functioning dry risers among staff, and 
staff on estates could be encouraged to report damage or vandalism to ensure that these are 
returned to working order as quickly as possible.  

Page 53



21 

 

 
2.97 Dry risers in the council’s housing blocks should be checked for damage regularly. Staff 

on estates should be encouraged to report any visible damage or vandalism which would 
affect their functioning.    

 
2.98 As part of the review the Committee requested details of fires in council properties, as this would 

help to illuminate the fire risks to Islington Council homes and the most frequent causes of fires. 
It was thought that this could help to inform how fire risks are communicated, and how 
communications and interventions are targeted. This information was not available to the 
Committee as a comprehensive register of fires of council housing is not maintained. It is 
recommended that such a register should be developed, with data backdated for ten years.  

 
2.99 Housing services should maintain a register of fires in council housing. It is suggested 

that this register is backdated for ten years. Recording the cause, extent, and other 
details of fires may help to inform the council’s fire prevention work.  

 
Learning from Grenfell   
 

2.100 The Committee commends the council’s response to the Grenfell Tower fire. One of 
Islington’s emergency planning officers and several of the council’s local authority liaison 
officers supported the emergency response. Four social workers were provided to support 
those affected by the fire. A relief Director of Housing was provided to the Grenfell Fire 
Response Team as 24-hour work was needed to support the survivors of the tragedy. 
Islington Housing Needs and Housing Operations staff were provided to help with the 
temporary housing of those who lost their home. Islington provided counselling services to 
firefighters who attended the scene, and empty properties were offered to those made 
homeless by the fire. In Islington, Housing Services worked quickly to offer reassurance to 
residents, communicate fire risks and submit cladding for testing. Work to review and improve 
the fire safety of the council’s housing stock is ongoing.  
 

2.101 Islington Council’s Director of Housing Needs and Strategy, Maxine Holdsworth, was 
seconded to the Grenfell Response Team in July 2017. Her responsibilities included 
rehousing more than 200 families affected by the fire. Shortly after Grenfell responsibilities 
were returned to the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, Maxine Holdsworth was 
again seconded to Kensington and Chelsea to take on the role of Director of Housing Needs 
and Supply, continuing her work to rehouse those affected by the fire.  
 

2.102 The Director of Housing Needs and Strategy is expected to return to Islington Council in 2019. 
It is thought that there will be many learning points from her experiences of working for the 
Grenfell Response Team and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, and it is 
therefore recommended that a report summarising her views is submitted to the Housing 
Scrutiny Committee at that time.  
 

2.103 The Director of Housing Needs and Strategy should author a report to the Housing 
Scrutiny Committee detailing her experiences and any learning points from her 
secondments to the Grenfell Response Team and the Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



22 

 

TMOs in Islington 
 

2.104 Grenfell Tower was managed by Kensington and Chelsea Tenant Management Organisation, 
which was criticised in the aftermath of the fire for not taking action on fire safety concerns 
raised by residents. In December 2017 Kensington and Chelsea Tenant Management 
Organisation decided that it could not guarantee the delivery of its services to a standard that 
residents should expect, and agreed to temporarily hand back management of its properties to 
the London Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. 

 
2.105 Following the Grenfell Tower fire there was some concern in the national media about Tenant 

Management Organisations’ (TMO) management of social housing. Around 3,800 council 
homes are managed by Islington’s 22 TMOs and co-operatives. Islington’s TMOs are 
responsible for inspecting their managed areas, ensuring there are no obstructions to 
emergency access or exits, and checking dry risers.  

 
2.106 Kensington and Chelsea TMO is a very different type of organisation to the TMOs which 

manage some Islington Council properties.  Although Kensington and Chelsea TMO has eight 
residents on its Board, it is effectively an arms-length management association for all housing 
owned by the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. The organisation managed around 
9,500 properties and had an annual turnover of £17.6 million.  

 
2.107 In contrast, the TMOs in Islington are smaller scale community organisations led by the 

residents who live in the properties they manage. The council monitors and supports these 
organisations though a dedicated TMO team. This support includes fire safety matters; all 
programmed fire risk assessments on TMO managed estates are carried out by the council. 
At the Committee’s June 2017 meeting, the Corporate Director for Housing and Adult Social 
Services emphasised that there were no plans to bring TMO management in-house; the 
council considered that Islington’s TMOs were well run and their contribution to the borough’s 
housing mix was valued. 

 
2.108 Whilst receiving evidence from the London Fire Brigade, the Committee asked if the Fire 

Brigade was confident that tenant management organisations in Islington were sufficiently 
aware of fire risks and their responsibilities. Whilst the Fire Brigade was not familiar with the 
management arrangements of different blocks, it was commented that succession planning 
was particularly important for resident-led housing management organisations, as smaller 
organisations tended to only have one person who was knowledgeable of fire risks and 
responsibilities. The Committee would encourage tenant management organisations and co-
operatives to consider the advice of the London Fire Brigade when reviewing their fire safety 
arrangements.   
 

 HMOs in Islington 

 
2.109 The Committee received evidence on fire safety in houses of multiple occupation (HMOs). 

There are around 1,750 HMOs in Islington. All HMOs are required to have adequate means of 
escape in case of fire. HMOs require a mandatory licence if they occupy at least 3 storeys, at 
least five tenants share a household, and tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities. 
Only 322 HMOs in Islington meet the conditions to require a mandatory licence. In response 
to concerns about non-licensable HMOs complying with fire safety regulations, the council 
introduced an additional licensing scheme for all HMOs on Caledonian Road and Holloway 
Road.  
 

2.110 Around 214 properties are required to be licensed under the additional licensing scheme. The 
scheme allows Environmental Health to monitor the fire safety of HMO properties. Licences 
may be refused if a property is not compliant.  Environmental Health officers consider that 

Page 55



23 

 

there is a high level of compliance with fire safety requirements for licensed HMOs. The 
additional licensing scheme resulted in one application being refused and 46 applications 
granted with conditions that works were carried out within one to three months. 100% 
compliance was achieved.  
 

2.111 Since January 2016 the council has carried out seven prosecutions for failing to license an 
HMO, four of these HMOs had fire safety hazards which were legally required to be improved. 
323 HMOs have been inspected and 63 significant fire safety hazards have been reduced.  
 

2.112 Officers expect that a new definition of a licensable HMO will come into force in April 2018. It 
is anticipated that at least 200 additional properties will be required to be licensed. This will 
allow the Environmental Health team to assess if those properties are compliant with fire 
safety regulation.   

 
 Re-homing and ongoing support in the event of a fire 
 

2.113 The Committee received evidence on re-homing and ongoing support arrangements in the 
event of a fire. If residents were unable to return to their home, they would be asked if there 
were any friends or family they could stay with. If this is not possible, the council would find 
emergency temporary accommodation. Some self-contained rooms in Reception Centres are 
kept vacant for this purpose. If there were not enough rooms in Reception Centres, residents 
would be offered hotel rooms.  Depending on the nature and size of the emergency, a rest 
centre may be established to support residents while temporary accommodation is being 
sought.  
 

2.114 Residents would only be expected to stay in hotel or Reception Centre rooms for a short 
period of time and would be offered more appropriate temporary accommodation, either from 
council stock or sourced from the private sector, if they were likely to be displaced from their 
home for a longer period. If the resident was unable to return to their home, then they would 
be awarded a high number of points that would allow them to bid for properties through the 
choice based lettings scheme.  
 
Other findings 
 

2.115 The Committee considered the risks posed by takeaways and hazardous materials being 
located on the ground floor of blocks of flats. Officers advised that the London Fire Brigade is 
the enforcing body for commercial properties, however there are mechanisms for the council’s 
Environmental Health team to notify the London Fire Brigade of any concerns during routine 
visits and inspections.  
 

2.116 The Committee considered tenancy conditions related to the storage and use of barbeques 
and gas canisters. The storage of gas cylinders and bottles is specifically prohibited in the 
council’s tenancy agreements. Although there is no specific condition on barbeque use, 
officers consider that there are adequate tenancy conditions to prohibit their use.  
 

3. Conclusions  
 

3.1 The Committee welcomes the council’s response to the Grenfell Tower fire. Islington Council 
has provided support to the emergency relief effort and the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea, and stepped up work to review and improve the fire safety of the council’s housing 
stock. Housing Services and the Emergency Planning team have effective working relationships 
with the London Fire Brigade. Local agencies, including Partners for Improvement in Islington, 
work together through the Homes and Estates Safety Board to proactively manage fire risks 
and other safety matters.  
 

Page 56



24 

 

3.2 The Committee has made 21 recommendations in response to the evidence received. These 
focus on maintaining and improving the safety features of the council’s housing stock, 
managing the fire risks to vulnerable and disabled tenants, and ensuring there is ongoing 
review and scrutiny of how the council manages of fire risks. 
 

3.3 The Committee expresses its condolences to all of those affected by the Grenfell Tower fire. 
The Committee would like to thank the emergency services, council officers, and others who 
have worked to ensure the safety of Islington residents in the months following the fire.  
 

3.4 In carrying out the review, the Committee met with council officers, the London Fire Brigade, 
industry experts and others to gain a balanced view. The Committee would like to thank the 
witnesses that gave evidence in relation to the scrutiny. The Executive is asked to endorse the 
Committee’s recommendations. 

Page 57



25 

 

APPENDIX A  
 

SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID)  
 

Review:  Fire Safety in Council Housing 
 

Scrutiny Review Committee:  Housing Scrutiny Committee  
 

Director leading the review:  Simon Kwong, Director of Property Services 

 
Lead officers: Stuart Fuller, Construction, Fire and Gas Safety Manager  
                       Damian Dempsey, Group Leader – Quantity Surveyors  
                        

Overall aim:  To review if the fire safety features of the council’s housing stock and associated  
                      arrangements are sufficient   
 

Objectives of the review:  

 To evaluate how fire risks in council properties are identified, assessed, and responded to.   

 To review if the council’s capital programme includes all of the fire safety works it should; 
and to understand the feasibility of fitting alarm systems, sprinklers and fire escapes to 
council housing.   

 To review the Housing Service’s emergency response arrangements in the event of a 
major fire; including evacuation and re-homing plans, and ongoing support arrangements. 

 To assess how the council ensures that its housing stock is compliant with fire safety 
regulations, London Fire Brigade advice and best practice guidance.    

 To identify if there are adequate communications channels for residents to report fire 
safety concerns to the council, and to assess how these are responded to; and to consider 
the fire safety advice provided to residents.  

 To review if there are sufficient capital resources to complete any required fire safety 
improvements to the council’s housing stock.  

 To review if there are sufficient revenue resources to ensure that the council’s housing 
stock remains compliant with fire regulations, building control and health and safety 
standards, and that any fire risks are proactively managed.   

 To evaluate how the council works with Partners and TMOs to ensure that council-owned 
properties which are not directly managed are compliant with fire safety regulations.  

 To review how fire safety is considered at the design stage of refurbishment works and 
new developments, and to review how decisions are made on matters which affect fire 
safety.  

 To review the working relationships between the council’s Emergency Planning team and 
Local Authority Liaison Officers, and the London Fire Brigade; 

 To review how vulnerable residents are incorporated into evacuation plans and how these 
plans are stored and accessed in the event of an emergency;  

 To review the risks posed by takeaways and hazardous materials being located on the 
ground floor of blocks of flats 

 To review tenancy conditions related to the storage and use of barbeques and gas 
canisters. 
 

 
 
 

Page 58



26 

 

How is the review to be carried out: 
 
Scope of the review   
 
The review will focus on: 
 
1. Fire risks 

 How risks are reported  

 How risks are assessed and responded to 

 Risk assessments and how risks are managed 

 The resources available to proactively manage risks 

 The risks posed by takeaways and hazardous materials being located on the ground 
floor of blocks of flats 

 The risks posted by the storage and use of barbeques and gas canisters, and if 
tenancy conditions are sufficient to control this risk.  

 
2. The Capital Programme  

 The fire safety works already carried out to council properties  

 What fire safety works are scheduled to be carried out 

 What fire safety features are not included in the capital programme and why 

 How fire safety is considered when planning capital works  

 How capital works are monitored to ensure that they are being carried out to the 
agreed specification 

 How decisions are made which affect fire safety  

 The resources for fire safety improvements  
 
3. Emergency response arrangements 

 Evacuation and re-housing plans  

 How emergency plans are triggered and what these entail  

 How vulnerable residents are incorporated into evacuation plans and how these plans 
are stored and accessed in the event of an emergency 

 
4. Working with others   

 The council’s responsibilities in regards to PFI and TMO properties  

 How the council works with Partners and TMOs on fire safety matters 

 Partnership work between Housing Services, Emergency Planning, Local Authority 
Liaison Officers, and the London Fire Brigade  

 How residents can raise fire safety concerns to the council  

 How fire safety concerns are responded to 

 The responsibilities of tenants and the responsibilities of leaseholders 

 How fire risks and advice is communicated to residents 
 
5. Compliance 

 Compliance with fire safety, health and safety, and building control regulations 

 Compliance with advice and guidance from the London Fire Brigade and others  
 
 
 
 

Page 59



27 

 

 
Types of evidence   
 

 Evidence from officer 

 Evidence from the London Fire Brigade 

 Evidence from independent experts on fire safety matters 

 Feedback from residents 

 Documentary evidence 

 Scrutiny visit or other sessions as required  
 

Additional information: 
 
The review will not include a detailed scrutiny of the fire safety of particular housing blocks, as 
this is already being reviewed by the council’s Housing Service in partnership with the London 
Fire Brigade.  
 
The review will be carried out at the same time as the Grenfell Tower inquiry. The review will 
not directly consider the issues raised during the inquiry, but the inquiry is of significant 
interest to the Housing Scrutiny Committee and the implications arising from the inquiry’s 
conclusions will be reported to the Committee in due course.   
 
In carrying out the review the committee will consider equalities implications and resident 
impacts identified by witnesses. The Executive is required to have due regard to these, and 
any other relevant implications, when responding to the review recommendations.  
 

 
 
 

Programme 
 

Key output: To be submitted to Committee on: 

1. Scrutiny Initiation Document 17 July 2017 

2. Draft Recommendations  16 November 2017 

3. Final Report 11 December 2017 

 
 
 

Page 60



28 

 

APPENDIX B 
Witness Evidence Plan  

 
Committee Meeting – 4 September 2017   
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Damian Dempsey, 
Group Leader – 
Quantity Surveyors, 
and Stuart Fuller, 
Construction, Fire and 
Gas Safety Manager.  
 

To provide a range of 
information on how the council 
ensures fire safety in its 
properties.  

To include:  

 The Council’s responsibilities for 
directly managed properties, PFI 
properties, and TMO properties  

 The responsibilities of tenants 
and the responsibilities of 
leaseholders 

 how fire risks in council 
properties are identified, 
assessed, and responded to 

 The communications channels 
for residents to report fire safety 
concerns to the council, and how 
these are responded to 

 What general fire safety advice 
is provided to residents 

 If it is feasible to fit alarm 
systems, sprinklers and fire 
escapes to council housing.   

 If capital resources are sufficient 
to complete any required fire 
safety improvements to the 
council’s housing stock  

 If revenue resources are 
sufficient to ensure that the 
council’s housing stock remains 
compliant with fire regulations, 
building control and health and 
safety standards, and that any 
fire risks are proactively 
managed.   

 How fire safety is considered at 
the design stage of 
refurbishment works and new 
developments, and to review 
how decisions are made on 
matters which affect fire safety. 

 How capital works are monitored 
to ensure that they are being 
carried out to the agreed 
specification  

 How the council works with 
Partners and TMOs on fire 
safety matters. 

 

 

Page 61



29 

 

 

Committee Meeting – 3 October 2017  
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose  Other key information 

Paul Hobbs,  
Borough 
Commander,  
London Fire 
Brigade  
 

To provide the Committee with advice 
and guidance on fire safety, and 
information on working relationships 
with the council. 

To include:  

 The fire risks to council 
housing 

 If any additional risks are 
posed by takeaways and 
hazardous materials being 
located on the ground floor of 
blocks of flats, as well as the 
storage of barbeques and gas 
canisters 

 The council’s compliance with 
advice and guidance from the 
London Fire Brigade  

 Working relationships between 
Housing Services, Emergency 
Planning, Local Authority 
Liaison Officers, and the 
London Fire Brigade  

 Can Islington Council do 
anything additional to ensure 
that a major fire is prevented. 

 
 

Jan Hart,  
Service Director,  
Public Protection 
 

To understand the work of the 
Emergency Planning unit and how 
the council would respond in the 
event of a major fire. 

To include:  

 How emergency plans are 
triggered and what these entail  

 Working relationships between 
Emergency Planning, Housing 
Services, Local Authority 
Liaison Officers, and the 
London Fire Brigade  

 

 

John Venning,  
Head of Asset 
Management,  
Partners for 
Improvement in 
Islington 

Partners for Improvement in Islington 
– to provide information on the 
organisation’s fire safety procedures 
and joint-working with the council.  

To include: 

 How the council works with 
Partners on fire safety matters 

 How Partners works with the 
fire brigade and others 

 How Partners assesses and 
responds to fire safety risks 

 The communications channels 
for residents to report fire safety 
concerns, and how these are 
responded to 

 What general fire safety advice 
is provided to residents 

 
 

Page 62



30 

 

 
 

Committee Meeting – 16 November 2017  
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Briefing note: 
Rehousing 
residents in the 
event of a fire 
 

To note the council’s arrangements 
for rehousing residents in the event 
of a fire.  
 

 

Notes of sessions 
attended by the 
Chair  

Notes taken at a recent London 
Scrutiny Network meeting and the 
London Build Expo. Both sessions 
had a focus on fire safety.  
  

 

 
 

Key dates: 
 
11 December 2017: Draft Recommendations  
 
30 January 2018: Final Report 

 
 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

 
  
 
 
20 JUNE 2017 

 
1. Urgent Item: Fire Safety following the Grenfell Tower Fire 
2. Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 
3. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q4 2016/17)  
4. Housing Services for Vulnerable People: Final Report   
5. Scrutiny Topics and Work Plan 2017/18 

 
 
17 JULY 2017 
 

1. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: SID and Witness Evidence  
2. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: SID and Introductory Presentation 

 
 
4 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

1. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence 
2. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence 
3. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q1 2017/18) 

 
3 OCTOBER 2017  
 

1. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence 
2. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence 
 
 

16 NOVEMBER 2017  
 

1. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence 
2. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Witness Evidence  
3. Capital Programme Scrutiny 2015/16 – 12 Month Report Back 

 
 

11 DECEMBER 2017  
 

1. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Draft Recommendations 
2. The Council’s New Build Programme Mini-Review: SID and Witness Evidence  
3. Responsive Repairs Scrutiny 2015/16 – 12 Month Report Back 
4. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q2 2017/18) 

 
 

30 JANUARY 2018 
 

1. RSL Scrutiny (Guinness Partnership TBC) 
2. The Council’s New Build Programme Mini-Review: Witness Evidence and Conclusions  
3. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Draft Recommendations 
4. Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Final Report 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



 
6 FEBRUARY 2018 – Special Meeting 
 

1. Scrutiny of Partners for Improvement in Islington 
 

 
13 MARCH 2018  
 

1. The Council’s New Build Programme Mini-Review: Final Report 
2. Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Final Report 
3. How Islington Council works with Housing Associations  
4. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q3 2017/18) & Annual Executive Member 

Presentation 
 

Page 66


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	1 Housing Association Scrutiny - The Guinness Partnership
	2 The Council's New Build Programme Mini-Review: Witness Evidence and Conclusions
	New Build Evidence - Information requested at the previous meeting

	3 Housing Communications Scrutiny Review: Draft Recommendations
	4 Fire Safety Scrutiny Review: Final Report
	5 Work Programme

